
CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
CITY HALL 

350 N MARKET BLVD | CHEHALIS, WA   98532 
 

Anthony E. Ketchum, Sr., District 3 
Mayor 

Vacant, District 1  
Daryl J. Lund, District 2 
Dr. Isaac S. Pope, District 4                                                                                                                                                                                         

Kate McDougall, Position at Large No. 1  
Kevin Carns, Position at Large No. 2 

Robert J. Spahr, Mayor Pro Tem, Position at Large No. 3 

 
 

Regular Meeting of Monday, November 13, 2023 
5:00 p.m. 

To access this meeting via Zoom: 
 Meeting ID: 834 4212 6653  

Pass Code: 674890 
 

 

1. Call to Order (Mayor Ketchum) 

2. Pledge of Allegiance (Mayor Ketchum) 

3. Approval of Agenda (Mayor Ketchum) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PRESENTATIONS/PROCLAMATIONS 

4. Employee Introductions 

                                           CONSENT CALENDAR ADMINISTRATION 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
PAGE 

5. Minutes of the Regular Meeting October 23, 2023 (City Clerk) 

6. Minutes of the Special Meeting October 26, 2023 (City Clerk) 

7. Vouchers and Transfers- Accounts Payable in the Amount of $826,704.00 (Finance 
Director) 

8. Vouchers and Transfers-Payroll in the Amount of $892,457.71 (Finance Director) 

9. Acceptance of the Stan Hedwall RV Park Electrical Pedestal Replacement Project 
as Complete (Parks and Facilities Manager) 

10. Request to Initiate an Out of Cycle Amendment to the Comprehensive Plan Map 
(City Planner) 

11. Resolution No. 21-2023, Declaring Surplus Property (City Clerk) 

12. Contract Award- Play Creation, Inc. Playground Equipment Purchase 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 
 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 
 

APPROVE 
 

APPROVE 

APPROVE  

1 

5 

7 
 

9 

11 
 

13 
 

41 

69 



   UNFINISHED BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION 
RECOMMENDATION PAGE

15. Second Reading of Ordinance No. 1071-B, Establishing Guidelines for Cost
Recovery of Fire Department Services (Fire Chief)

16. Second Reading of Ordinance No. 1076-B, Right of Way Dedication for NW
Arkansas Way (City Manager/City Attorney)

17. Second Reading of Ordinance No. 1078-B, Authorizing Establishment of a Fund
Named LEOFF-1 OPEB Trust (or Reserve) Fund (Finance Director)

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

85 

113 

121 

 NEW BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION 
RECOMMENDATION PAGE

18. First Reading of Ordinance No. 1080-B, Fiscal Year 2024 Budget (Finance Director)

19. First Reading of Ordinance No. 1081-B, Setting the 2024 Levy Amount and First
Reading of Ordinance No. 1082-B, Stating Levy Amount Changes from 2023 Levy
(Finance Director)

20. First Reading of Ordinance No. 1079-B, Amending CMC 17.79.010 to Include
Mixed Residential Commercial (MRC) and Open Space Government (OSG)
(Contract City Planner)

21. First Reading of Ordinance No. 1083-B, Amending Chapter 2.08.050 of the
Chehalis Municipal Code Regarding Candidate Qualifications (City Clerk)

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

127 

131 

137 

145 

 PUBLIC HEARINGS ADMINISTRATION 
RECOMMENDATION PAGE

13. 2024 Preliminary City Revenue Sources- Property Tax and Levies (City Manager,
Finance Director) 

14. 2024 Preliminary Budget (City Manager, Finance Director) 

Citizens may participate in person or submit comments for the public hearings by:

1. Submitting through the City website – https://www.ci.chehalis.wa.us/contact.
2. Contacting City Clerk Kassi Mackie at 360-345-1042 or kmackie@ci.chehalis.wa.us to

provide verbal comments or to sign up to log-in via Zoom to comment directly to the City
Council. 

CONDUCT 
PUBLIC 

HEARING 

71 

77 

CITIZENS BUSINESS (PUBLIC COMMENT) 

Individuals wishing to provide public comments in general and on agenda items should submit comments by 4:00 
pm on the day of the meeting. All comments received will be acknowledged by the Mayor under Citizens Business of 
this meeting agenda.  Please use the following form to submit comments – https://www.ci.chehalis.wa.us/contact.  
If you do not have computer access or would prefer to submit a comment verbally, please contact City Clerk Kassi 
Mackie at 360-345-1042 or at kmackie@ci.chehalis.wa.us.  Public comments will be limited to five (5) minutes per 
person. 

https://www.ci.chehalis.wa.us/contact
mailto:kmackie@ci.chehalis.wa.us
https://www.ci.chehalis.wa.us/contact
mailto:kmackie@ci.chehalis.wa.us


  ADMINISTRATION AND CITY COUNCIL REPORTS  ADMINISTRATION 
RECOMMENDATION PAGE 

Administration Reports 

• City Manager Update

Councilor Reports/Committee Updates (City Council) 

INFORMATION 
ONLY  

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

Pursuant to RCW 

• 42.30.110(1)(c) -Sale/Lease of Real Estate

THE CITY COUNCIL MAY ADD AND TAKE ACTION ON OTHER ITEMS NOT LISTED ON THIS AGENDA. 

NEXT REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS  
MONDAY, NOVEMBER 27, 2023 -5:00 P.M. 
MONDAY, DECEMBER 11, 2023- 5:00 P.M.  

NEXT SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS  
THURSDAY, JANUARY 18, 2024- 5:00 P.M. 





Chehalis City Council 
Regular Meeting Minutes 

October 23, 2023 
5:00 p.m. 

 
Council Present: Mayor Ketchum, Mayor Pro-Tem Spahr, Councilor Lund, Councilor McDougall, 

Councilor Carns, Councilor Pope, and Councilor Lord 
 
Council Absent:  
 
Staff Present: Jill Anderson, City Manager; Kassi Mackie, City Clerk; Kevin Nelson, City Attorney; Lance 

Bunker, Public Works Director; Riley Bunnell, Water Superintendent; Brandon Rakes, Airport 
Director; Fritz Bierle, Streets Superintendent; Celest Wilder, Engineering Tech III; Chun Saul, 
Financial Director; Justin Phelps, Wastewater Superintendent; Adam Fulbright, Fire Chief; Randy 
Kaut, Police Chief; Gina Copas, Fire Administrative Assistant; Sally Saxton, Financial Analyst 

 
Press Present: Owen Sexton, The Chronicle 
 
1. Call to Order:  
   Mayor Ketchum called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m. 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 

Councilor Lord led the flag salute.  
 
3. Approval of Agenda 

The agenda was amended to remove the executive session.  
 
A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Spahr, seconded by Councilor Pope, to approve the agenda 
as amended. Motion carried unanimously.  

 
PRESENTATIONS 
 
4. Recognition of Councilor Lord  

Councilor Lord was presented with a plaque for his term on Council.   
 

5. Swearing in of Fire Captains (Fire Chief) 
Fire 

 
6. Proclamation: First Responder’s Day (Mayor Ketchum) 

Mayor Ketchum presented the proclamation for First Responder’s Day to Fire Chief Adam Fulbright 
and Police Chief Randy Kaut. 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
7. Minutes of the Regular City Council Meeting of September 25, 2023 (City Clerk) 

 
8. Minutes of the Regular City Council Meeting of October 09, 2023 (City Clerk) 

 

1



9. Vouchers and Transfers- Accounts Payable in the Amount of $786,682.45 (Finance Director)

10. Budgeted Purchase of Fuel for Resale (Airport Director)

11. Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWSRF) Preconstruction Loan Application for the Market
Street Water Main Replacement Project (11th to 21st Street) (Water Superintendent)

A motion was duly made and passed approving the items on the Consent Calendar as though acted
on individually.

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

There were no public hearings to conduct. 

CITIZENS BUSINESS 
Spencer Boudreau of Longview expressed appreciation for the swift resolution regarding water at 1441 
Bishop Road. 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

NEW BUSINESS 

12. Council Member Vacancy Process (City Clerk)
Councilor Carns requested that staff prepare an ordinance amending the resident requirements for
candidates. The Council was in favor of the proposed timeline for filling the District 1 seat.

13. First Reading of Ordinance No. 1071-B, Establishing Guidelines for Cost Recovery of Fire Department 
Services (Fire Chief)

A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Spahr, seconded by Councilor McDougall to approve
Ordinance No. 1071-B on first reading.  The motion carried unanimously.

14. First Reading of Ordinance No. 1076-B, Right of Way Dedication for NW Arkansas Way (City
Manager/City Attorney) 

A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Spahr, seconded by Councilor Lord to approve Ordinance 
No. 1076-B, on first reading. The motion carried unanimously.  

15. First Reading of Ordinance No. 1078-B, Authorizing Establishment of a Fund Named LEOFF-1 OPEB
Trust (or Reserve) Fund (Finance Director)

A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Spahr, seconded by Councilor Lord to approve Ordinance
No. 1078-B on first reading. The motion carried unanimously.

2



ADMINISTRATION AND CITY COUNCIL REPORTS 

City Manager Update 
Streets Superintendent Fritz Bierle provided a verbal update on street light repairs in Chehalis.  
 
City Manager Anderson thanked Councilor Lord for his service and reminded the Council of the 
special meeting on Thursday, October 26.  

 
Councilor Reports/Committee Updates 
 None. 

 
ADJOURNMENT  
 

Mayor Ketchum adjourned the meeting at 6:24 p.m. 
 
_______________________________ 
Anthony Ketchum, Sr., Mayor 
 
_______________________________ 
Attest: Kassi Mackie, City Clerk 

3



4



Chehalis City Council 
Special Meeting Minutes 

October 26, 2023 
4:00 p.m. 

Council Present: Mayor Ketchum, Mayor Pro-Tem Spahr, Councilor Lund, Councilor McDougall, 
Councilor Pope, Councilor Carns (virtual attendance) and Councilor Lord 

Council Absent: 

Staff Present: Jill Anderson, City Manager; Kassi Mackie, City Clerk; Kevin Nelson, City Attorney; Lance 
Bunker, Public Works Director; Riley Bunnell, Water Superintendent; Brandon Rakes, Airport 
Director; Fritz Bierle, Streets Superintendent; Celest Wilder, Engineering Tech III; Chun Saul, 
Financial Director; Justin Phelps, Wastewater Superintendent; Adam Fulbright, Fire Chief; Randy 
Kaut, Police Chief; Gina Copas, Fire Administrative Assistant; Sally Saxton, Financial Analyst 

Press Present: Owen Sexton, The Chronicle 

1. Call to Order:
Mayor Ketchum called the meeting to order at 4:00 p.m.

2. Review of the FY2024 Budget Including Revenue Options
Finance Director Chun Saul and City Manager Jill Anderson provided the Council with an overview of
the FY2024 Budget and proposed revenue options.

No final action was taken.

ADJOURNMENT 

Mayor Ketchum adjourned the meeting at 6:24 p.m. 

_______________________________ 
Anthony Ketchum, Sr., Mayor 

_______________________________ 
Attest: Kassi Mackie, City Clerk 

5



6



7



8



9



10



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO: The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY:  Andrew Hunziker, Parks and Facilities Manager 

MEETING OF:   November 13, 2023 

SUBJECT:   Acceptance the Stan Hedwall RV Park Electrical Pedestal Replacement project 
as complete and release the retainage to Cole Electric Contracting LLC after all 
statutory requirements are met 

ISSUE: 

The Stan Hedwall RV Park Electrical Pedestal Replacement project is complete. It is 
Recommended that the city council accept the project as complete, and release retainage to 
Cole Electric Contracting LLC after all the requirements have been met. 

DISCUSSION: 

On October 9th, 2023, Cole Electric Contracting LLC was awarded the Stan Hedwall RV Park 
Electrical Pedestal Replacement project in the amount of $61,117.21. This project consisted of 
the installation of 29 individual RV electrical panels. The old panels were 2 feet above the 
ground. The new panels have been installed on a new pressure treated wood post and raised to 
6 feet above the ground. This will help keep the new electrical out of the flood waters. 
Upon review of the final invoice with retainage, a discrepancy in the tax calculation was found 
in original amount and the updated final cost total is $61,343.99. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The Stan Hedwall RV Park Electrical Pedestal Replacement project was funded with $49,519.01 
in Federal FEMA money for 90% of the estimated cost of $55,021.12, which is held in reserves. 
This amount was based upon estimated costs of replacement, per bid provided in April of 2023, 
which is no longer accurate due to inflation. 

A secondary request can be made to FEMA with the potential for funding to be received for the 
increased cost. However, if not awarded by FEMA, the remaining balance will be paid from 
City’s Public Reserve Fund, where the estimated FEMA disaster related project cost is budgeted. 

11



RECOMMENDATION 
 

It is recommended that the City Council accept the Stan Hedwall RV Park Electrical Pedestal 
Replacement project as complete and authorize release of retainage to Cole Electric 
Contracting LLC in the amount $2,834.75 of after all statutory requirements have been met. 
 
SUGGESTED MOTION 
 

I move that the City Council accept the Stan Hedwall RV Park Electrical Pedestal Replacement 
project as complete and authorize release of retainage to Cole Electric Contracting LLC in the 
amount $2,834.75 of after all statutory requirements have been met. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO:  The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM:  Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY:  Todd Johnson, Planner 

MEETING OF: November 13, 2023 

SUBJECT: Request to Initiate an Out of Cycle Amendment to the Comprehensive Plan Map 

INTRODUCTION 

In November of 2022 the Lewis County Commissioners adopted Ordinance 1337 which amended the City 
of Chehalis Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) subject to certain conditions of approval.  This was done at the 
City of Chehalis City Council’s request. To maintain consistency between the adopted UGB by Lewis County 
and the City’s comprehensive plan the City must amend their Comprehensive Plan to include the added 
UGB.  Additionally, one other property owner is requesting to rezone property from a commercial 
designation to a light industrial designation.  This change also requires an amendment to the 
comprehensive plan mapping. 

DISCUSSION 

The conditions of approval in Ordinance 1337 required a conservation easement over the fullest extent 
of the 100-year floodplain plus the 2007 mapped flood area prior to allowing development.  Property 
owners have recently submitted that covenant to the city.   

Shovel Ready LLC has also submitted a request to rezone parcels of property from a commercial zone to 
a light industrial zone.  This rezone request could not be approved currently because it is inconsistent with 
the comprehensive plan designation for those properties.  A change to the comprehensive plan mapping 
could also be considered at the same time as the boundary expansion and designation of the properties 
added to the UGA by Lewis County. 

CMC 17.09.210(C.)(2.) allows property owners to request that City Council initiate consideration of a 
comprehensive plan amendment at any time.  Otherwise, property owners may apply for an amendment 
to the comprehensive plan between January-March of each year which are decided on by the year end. 
State planning regulations for comprehensive plan amendments require that cities initiate amendments 
no more frequently than once per year.  The City of Chehalis did not process any requests for 
Comprehensive Plan Amendments this year in 2023.  Rather than requiring these property owners to wait 
for the process to initiate next year, allowing the initiation of this out of cycle amendment will allow for 
faster decision making on these requests and would support economic development in the city. 

Because this will be a 2023 Comprehensive Plan Amendment process that will conclude in 2024, the City 
can consider additional changes in 2024 through the normal application process with applications being 
received in January-March and scheduled for review and approval through next year’s cycle. 

13



Allowing these requests to be processed out of cycle does not approve the mapping amendments.  It only 
allows city staff to review and consider these amendments through a public process immediately rather 
than waiting for the annual process next year.  This out of cycle review would still be subject to the same 
review requirements and public process as a normal amendment processed through the annual process. 
 
Letters requesting the out of cycle processed from two applicants are attached to this agenda report. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
  

There is no fiscal impact from this request.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

It is recommended that the City Council direct staff to process an out of cycle amendment to the 
comprehensive plan mapping to fully consider the changes to the UGB and property designations 
requested for rezone also requiring a map amendment. 
 
SUGGESTED MOTION 
 

Move to direct staff to initiate an out of cycle 2023 comprehensive plan amendment to fully consider the 
changes requested.  
 
 

14



JSA Civil, LLC - 111 Tumwater Blvd SE, Suite C210 - Tumwater, WA 98501 

September 12, 2023 

Mr. Todd Johnson 
City of Chehalis 
Community Development 
1321 S Market Blvd 
Chehalis, WA 98532 

Re: Newaukum Ventures – 
Comprehensive Plan & Zoning Map Amendment Request 

Dear Mr. Johnson, 

In November of 2022, the Lewis County Board of County Commissioners adopted Ordinance 1337, in 
which the City of Chehalis Urban Growth Area was amended to include the “Chehalis Westlund-Enbody” 
properties (tax parcels: 017873003000, 017880001003, 107880001001, 107880001002, 17846003006, 
17846001006, 017846003002, 17846001005, & 17874001000). A copy of Lewis County Ordinance 1337 
is provided as Exhibit A.  

Ordinance 1337 also stated that “the City of Chehalis is required to place a conservation easement over 
the fullest extent of the 100-year floodplain plus the 2007 mapped flood area on all parcels added to the 
city’s urban growth area associated with [sic] Westlund-Enbody property.” Pursuant to this requirement, 
a complying deed restriction was recorded in August 2023 and is provided as Exhibit B.  

In accordance with CMC 17.09.210(C)(2) Newaukum Ventures (AKA Westlund-Enbody properties) 
requests that the City of Chehalis amend its Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Map to conform with Lewis 
County Ordinance 1337. We further request the subject properties have a designated zoning of MRC- 
Mixed Residential/Commercial.  

Respectfully, 

Brandon Johnson, PE 
Principal 
JSA Civil, LLC 

n:\2 - projects\135 newaukum ventures\135.001 oncall engineering\correspondence\to\2023-0912 comprehensive plan amendment 
request\2023-0912 comp plan amendment request - nv.docx 

15



EXHIBIT A - ORDIANCE 1337

16



17



18



19



20



3596861 MISC
08/10/202302:25:40PM Total Pages: 18 Fees: 220.50LarryE Grove,CPA,LewisCountyAuditor,Chehalis,Washington

AFTER RECORDING, RETURN TO:

Dickson FrohlichPhillipsBurgess PLLC

111 21stAvenue SW

Olympia, Washington 98501

DECLARATION OF RESTRICTIONS

Grantor: Newaukum Ventures,LLC, a Washington limited

liabilitycompany

Grantee: Cityof Chehalis,a Washington municipalcorporation

Legal Description: Sl4 Tl3N R2W LTS A, B, and C 935319

(abbreviated) S13 Tl3N R2W PT W1/2 SW 1/4

Sl3 Tl3N R2W PT NW1/4 SW 1/4W HWY

Assessor'sTax ParcelID Nos: 017880-001-001

017880-001-002

017880-001-003

017846-001-005

017846-001-006

017846-003-006

ReferenceNos. of Documents

THIS DECL TION OF RESTRICTIONS ("Declaration")ismade and entered

intothe_]_0__day of 1A4u 6 F ,2023, by and between Newaukum Ventures,LLC, a

Washington limitedliabilitycompany ("Grantor")and the City of Chehalis,a Washington

municipalcorporation("Grantee"),forthebenefitofthe public.

RECITALS

A. WHEREAS, Grantoristheowner of approximately247 acresof realproperty
locatedin the vicinityof Newaukum Golf Drive, Chehalis,Lewis County, Washington,

(hereafter,the"Newaukum Property"or "Property");and

B. WHEREAS, the Newaukum Golf Course encompasses a portion of the

Property,and thesouthernportionofthe Propertyisalsopartiallyencumbered by wetlandsand

thefloodplainoftheChehalisRiver;and

Pagel1

EXHIBIT B - 
DEED RESTRICTION

21



3596861 MISC
08/10/202302:25:40PM Page 2 of18

C. WHEREAS, in2020, Grantorsubmittedan applicationtotheCityof Chehalis

toexpand theCity'sUrban Growth Area ("UGA") to includetheNewaukum Propertyinorder

toallowforfuturedevelopment;and

D. WHEREAS, on November 22, 2022, followingreview and publichearings
requiredpursuantto the Lewis County Planned Growth process,City and County codes,and

the Growth Management Act (RCW 36.70A), the Lewis County Board of County
Commissioners approved OrdinanceNo. 1337,a copy ofwhich isattachedasExhibitA, which

amended theLewis County Comprehensive Plan and AssociatedZoning Regulations;and

E. WHEREAS, as adopted,Ordinance No. 1337 expanded the ChehalisUGA to

includetheNewaukum Property(describedthereinas the "Westlund-Enbody" property)and
rezoned the Propertyfrom Rural Development District(RDD-5) to "City

- Urban Growth

Area,"and;

F. WHEREAS, Washington State Growth Management Act regulations

(specifically,WAC 365-196-310(1)(b)(iii)(C))allowforurbangrowth areaexpansionsintothe

one-hundred-yearfloodplainof any river,providedthatthefollowingconditionsaremet:

(C) The landisowned by ajurisdictionplanningunder thischapteror therightstothe

development ofthelandhave been permanentlyextinguished,and thefollowingcriteria
aremet:

(I) The permissibleuse of the land is limitedto one of the

following:Outdoor recreation;environmentallybeneficial

projectsincluding,but not limitedto,habitatenhancement

or environmentalrestoration;stormwater facilities;flood

controlfacilities;or underground conveyances;and

(II) The development and use of such facilitiesor projectswill

not decrease flood storage,increasestormwater runoff,

dischargepollutantsto freshor saltwaters during normal

operationsor floods,or increasehazards to people and

property.
and;

G. WHEREAS, in order to comply with WAC 365-196-310(1)(b)(iii)(C),
Ordinance No. 1337 imposed a conditionof approval which provides in pertinentpartas
follows:

...priorto development (asdefinedLewis County Code Chapter

17),the City of Chehalis is requiredto place a conservation

easement overthefullestextentofthe 100-yearfloodplainplusthe

2007 mapped floodarea on allparcelsadded to the city'surban

Page|2

22



3596861 MISC
08/10/202302:25:40PM Page 3 of18

growth area associatedwith [sic]Westlund-Enbody property,as

shown inExhibitA, Attachment 2 ...

and;

H. WHEREAS, Grantor desiresthrough the recordingof this Declarationto

impose permanent development restrictionson thoseportionsof the Propertycontainingthe

floodplainand the 2007 mapped floodarea,which are legallydescribedon Exhibit B and

depicted in Exhibit C, in compliance with the requirements of Ordinance No. 1337

(collectively,the"Floodplain");and

I. WHEREAS, theCityofChehalishasreviewedtheDeclarationand concursthat
itsatisfiestherequirementsof OrdinanceNo. 1337.

COVENANTS

NOW, THEREFORE, in considerationof the above and the covenants,terms,
conditions,and restrictionsherein,Grantor does hereby establishrealpropertycovenantson
theFloodplainas follows:

1. Declarationof Real Property Covenant. Grantorvoluntarilyestablishesthis
Declarationin perpetuityover the Floodplainon the terms and conditionssetforthherein

exclusivelyfor the purpose of permanently extinguishingdevelopment rightswithin the

Floodplain.

2. Purpose. ItisthepurposeofthisDeclarationtopreventany development within
theFloodplainexceptas expresslyprovidedforherein.

3. Prohibited Uses. Except forthepurposeof maintainingthestateand condition
of any portionof the existingNewaukum Valley Golf Course, any development withinthe

Floodplain is prohibited. Without limitingthe generalityof the foregoing,the following
activitiesand usesareexpresslyprohibited:

a. Construction and Improvements. The placement or constructionof

any buildings,structures,or other improvements of any kind,includingwithout limitation,
utilities,septicsystems, communication lines,communication towers. storagetanks and

pipelines.

b. Development. Any residential,commercial,or industrialuseoractivity.

4. Covenant Running with the Land. Any and allrequirementsof the laws of
the Stateof Washington to be satisfiedin order for the provisionsof thisDeclarationto
constitutedeed restrictionsand covenantsrunningwiththelandshallbe deemed tobe satisfied
in full,and any requirementsor privilegesof estatesare intendedto be satisfied,or in the

alternate,an equitableservitudehas been createdto insurethattheserestrictionsrun with the
land. Each and every contract,deed, or otherinstrumenthereafterexecuted conveying the

Page]3

23



3596861 MISC
08/10/202302:25:40PM Page 4 of18

Propertyor portionthereof(excludinginstrumentsgrantingsecurityinterests)shallexpressly

provide that such conveyance is subjectto thisDeclaration;provided,however, thatthe

covenantscontainedhereinshallsurviveand be effectiveregardlessof whether such contract,
deed or otherinstrumenthereafterexecutedconveying thePropertyorportionthereofprovides
thatsuch conveyance issubjecttothisDeclaration.

5. Scope and Effect.The terms and conditionsofthisDeclaration:

a. shallgo intoeffectimmediatelyupon recording;

b. shallbe deemed covenantsrunningwith the landand shallcontinueas

servituderunninginperpetuitywith theProperty;

c. shallinuretothebenefitof Granteeand thepublic;

d. shallinuretothebenefitof and bind Grantor;

e. shallinuretothebenefitof and bind futureowners ofany titleinterestin

thePropertytothesame extentthey applytoand bind Grantoras ifeach had been an original

signatorytothisDeclaration;

f. shallsurviveany subsequenttransferof any titleinterestintheProperty;

g. areunconditionaland shallnotbe limitedinany manner; and

h. shallnot precluderepairand maintenance of existingimprovements,

requiredtomaintainand/orsustainoperationoftheNewaukum ValleyGolf Course.

6. Terms Binding. No transfer,mortgage, lease,license,easement, or other

conveyance of any interestinor rightto occupancy inallor any partof the Propertyby any

personshallaffecttheterms and conditionsofthisDeclaration.

7. Perpetual Duration. This Declarationshallbe bindingservituderunningwith

thePropertyinperpetuity.

8. SpecificPerformance. Grantor confirms thatdamages at law may be an

inadequateremedy fora breachof any provisionhereof.The rightsand obligationshereunder

shallbe enforceableby specificperformance,injunctionorotherequitableremedy, butnothing
hereincontainedisintendedtoorshalllimitoraffectany rightsatlaw orby statuteorotherwise

ofGranteefora breachorthreatenedbreachofany provisionshereof.The rightsand obligations
of Grantorand Granteehereundershallbe enforceableinequityaswellasatlaw or otherwise.

9. General Provisions

a. No Waiver. The failureof Grantee to promptly enforceany rightor

remedy underthisDeclarationshallnotconstitutea waiverthereofand shallnotaffector impair
theliabilityof Grantor.

Page[4

24



3596861 MISC
08/10/202302:25:40PM Page 5 of18

b. EntireAgreement. This Declarationsetsforthallcovenants,promises,
agreements, conditionsand understandingsbetween Grantor and Grantee conceming the
mattersaddressed in thisDeclaration,and there are no covenants,promises,agreements,
conditions,or understandings,eitheroralor written,between thepartiesotherthanas setforth
in this Declaration.No subsequent alteration,amendment, change, or additionto this
Declarationshallbe bindingupon thepartiesunlessreducedtowritingand signedby Grantee

(oritssuccessor)and allowners of a titleinterestintheProperty.

c. Construction; Severability. Ifany provisionof thisDeclarationis

invalid,illegal,or unenforceable,such provisionshallbe consideredseveredfrom the restof
thisDeclarationand the remaining provisionsshallcontinuein fullforceand effectas ifthe
invalidprovisionhad not been included.In no event shallthis Declarationbe rendered
unenforceableifany applicablelaws,regulations,guidance,or policieschange as to form or
contentaftertheClosingDate.

d. Governing Law; Venue. This Declarationshallbe governed by and
construedinaccordancewiththelawsoftheStateofWashington. Venue forany lawsuitarising
out of this Declarationshallbe in a court of competent jurisdictionin Lewis County,
Washington.

e. Attorneys' Fees. In any actionto interpretor enforceany of theterms
or conditionsofthisDeclaration,theprevailingpartyshallbe entitledtorecoveritsreasonable

attorneys'feesand litigationexpenses,includingthoseincurredattrialor on appeal.

f. Authority. The undersignedrepresentsthatGrantor isthe currentfee
owner ofthePropertyand istheauthorizedrepresentativeof Grantortoexecuteand recordthis
Declaration.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, theGrantorhas setitshand on thedatefirstwrittenabove.

GRANTOR:

NEWAUKUM VENTURES, LLC, a

Washington limitedliabilitycompany

By: .

J ph O. Enb

Its:G or

By:
Trevor .Westlund

Its:Go ernor

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

CITY OF CHEH IS

By:

Its:CityAttorney

Page]5

25



3596861 MISC
08/10/202302:25:40PM Page 6 of18

STATE OF WASHINGTON )

)ss:

County of Lewis )

IcertifythatIknow or have satisfactoryevidencethatJoseph 0. Enbody istheperson
who appearedbeforeme, and saidpersonacknowledged thathe signedthisinstrument,on oath

statedthathe was authorizedto executethe instrumentand acknowledged itas a Governor of

Newaukum Ventures, LLC, a Washington limitedliabilitycompany, to be the free and

voluntaryactof such partyfortheusesand purposesmentioned intheinstrument.

DATED: this //) day of 3 ,2023.
g115tiffIIt

D.

. PUBuC [PrintName]
NOTARY

PUBIyIC
fortheStateof Washington

..Nu Residingat b//7g/ S (4)

My Commission Expires: /(p OM

STATE OF WASHINGTON )

)ss:

County of Lewis )

IcertifythatIknow orhave satisfactoryevidencethatTrevor L. Westlund istheperson
who appearedbeforeme, and saidpersonacknowledged thathe signedthisinstrument,on oath

statedthathe was authorizedto executethe instrumentand acknowledged itas a Governor of

Newaukum Ventures, LLC, a Washington limitedliabilitycompany, to be the free and

voluntaryactof such partyfortheusesand purposesmentioned intheinstrument.

DATED: this /f) day of uIb ,2023.

........... [PrintName]slON .
.. NOTARY PUBLIC fortheStateof Washington

HOTARY Residingat CÁfQÄS fy

PUBuC
My Commission Expires: /(a / pa,2T

Page]6

26



3596861 MISC
08/10/202302:25:40PM Page 7 of18

ExhibitA

Ordinance No. 1337

Page 1

27



3596861 MISC
08/10/202302:25:40PM Page 8 of18

BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS

LEWIS COUNTY, WASHINGTON

IN THE MATTER OF: ORDINANCE NO. 1337

ADOPT ORDINANCE 1337 TO AMEND THE LEWIS

COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AND

ASSOCIATED ZONING MAP DESIGNATIONS

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED

DONE IN OPEN SESSION this22nd day of November, 2022.

APPROVED AS TO FORM: BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS

Jonathan Meyer, ProsecutingAttorney LEWIS COUNTY, WASHINGTON

Barbara Russell Lindsey R. Pollock, DVM

By: Barbara Russell, Lindsey R. Pollock,DVM, Chair

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

ATTEST: ½;:. Sean D. Swope°
seen D. Swope, Vice Chair

Rieva Lester F. Lee Grose

Rieva Lester, F.Lee Grose, Commissioner

Clerk of the Lewis County Board of

County Commissioners

Page 1of1 Ord.1337

28



3596861 MISC
08/10/202302:25:40PM Page 9 of18

BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS

OF LEWISCOUNTY, WASHINGTON

ADOPT ORDINANCE 1337TO AMEND )

THE LEWISCOUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN
ORDINANCE 1337

AND ASSOCIATEDZONING MAP DESIGNATIONS )

)

WHEREAS, RCW 36.70A.040requiresLewisCountytoplanunderandinaccordancewiththeGrowth

Management Act;and

WHEREAS, RCW 36.70A.130requiresthatcomprehensiveplansbe subjecttocontinuingreviewand

evaluationbyeachcountyata frequencyno more thanonceeveryyear;and

WHEREAS, RCW 36.70A.130requirescomprehensiveplanchangestobeconsideredbythegoverning

bodyconcurrentlysothecumulativeeffectofthevariousproposalscanbeascertained;and

WHEREAS, RCW 36.70A.040requiresadoptionofdevelopmentregulationsconsistentwith

comprehensiveplans;and

WHEREAS, intheyear2022,theLewisCountyPlanningCommissionreviewedtheproposed

amendments totheLewisCountyComprehensivePlanmap andassociatedzoningmap designationsas

shown inExhibitA;and

WHEREAS, staffprovidednoticeforpublichearingsbeforetheLewisCountyPlanningCommissionon

theproposedamendments inthemanner prescribedinChapters17.05and17.12LCCon June9,2022,

July7,2022,August4,2022,andAugust11,2022;and

WHEREAS, theLewisCountyPlanningCommissionheldpublichearingson theproposedamendments

shown inExhibitA on June28,2022,July17,2022,July26,2022,andAugust23,2022;and

WHEREAS, followingthepublichearings,thePlanningCommissiondeliberatedanddeterminedthatall

butone oftheproposedtheamendments met theintentandrequirementsoftheGrowthManagement

Act,wereconsistentwiththeLewisCountyComprehensivePlanandCountywidePlanningPolicies,and

wereinaccordancewiththepublicinterest.The PlanningCommissiondeterminedthattheproposalto

amend theCityofChehalisurbangrowthareaforAssessor'staxparcelnumber 017904002002,known

astheBreenproperty,was notinthepublicinterest;and

WHEREAS, on September14,2022,thePlanningCommissionsigneda LetterofTransmittal

recommendingapprovalofsixoftheproposedamendments andrecommendingrejectionofone ofthe

proposedamendments,asshown inExhibitA;and

WHEREAS, on October18,2022,theLewisCountyBoardofCountyCommissioners(BOCC)passed

Resolution22-328toholda publichearingon Ordinance1337anddirectedtheClerkoftheBoardto

providenoticeofthehearing;and

29



3596861 MISC
08/10/202302:25:40PM Page 10 of18

WHEREAS, theBOCC helddulynoticedpublichearingon theproposedamendments totheLewis
CountyComprehensivePlanandassociatedzoningmap designationsbeginningon November 1,2022,
recessingandcontinuingtoNovember8,2022;and

WHEREAS, theBOCC foundthattheproposedtheamendments met theintentandrequirementsofthe
GrowthManagement Act,wereconsistentwiththeLewisCountyComprehensivePlanandCountywide
PlanningPolicies,andallproposals,excepttheCityofChehalis- Breenproposal(ExhibitA,Attachment
1)andtheYMCA Rezone(ExhibitA,Attachment4),tobe inthebestinterestofthepublic.

NOW THEREFORE BE ITRESOLVED theBOCC findstheproposedamendment totheCityofChehalis
urbangrowthareafortheparcellistedinExhibitA,Attachment1,known astheBreenproperty,isnot
inthepublicinterestand herebydeniestheamendment totheLewisCountyComprehensivePlanand
associatedzoningdesignation;and

NOW THEREFORE BE ITFURTHER RESOLVED theBOCC findstheproposedamendment fortheparcels
listedinExhibitA,Attachment4,known astheMineralLakeYMCA rezone,isnotinthepublicinterest
and herebydeniestheamendment totheLewisCountyComprehensivePlanandassociatedzoning
designation;and

NOW THEREFORE BE ITFURTHER RESOLVED theBOCC findstheproposedamendment totheCityof
Chehalisurbangrowthareaforparcelslistedbelow,known astheWestlund-Enbodyproperty,meets
theapprovalcriteriawithinLewisCountyCode17.12.100andherebyadoptstheamendment tothe
LewisCountyComprehensivePlanandassociatedzoningdesignations,asshown inExhibitA,
Attachment2;and

Name Assessor'sTax ComprehensivePlan LewisCountyZoningMap
ParcelsNo. Map Designation Designation

ChehalisWestlund- 017873003000 UrbanGrowthArea City- UrbanGrowthArea
Enbody 017880001003

017880001001
017880001002

017846003006

017846001006

017846003002

017846001005
017874001000

NOW THEREFORE BE ITFURTHER RESOLVED theBOCC requiresthatpriortodevelopment(asdefined
LewisCountyCode Chapter17),theCityofChehalisisrequiredtoplaceaconservationeasementover
thefullestextentofthe100-yearfloodplainplusthe2007mapped floodareaon allparcelsaddedtothe
city'surbangrowthareaassociatedwithWestlund-Enbodyproperty,asshown inExhibitA,Attachment
2;and

30



3596861 MISC
08/10/202302:25:40PM Page 11 of18

NOW THEREFORE BE ITFURTHER RESOLVED theBOCC findstheproposedamendment totheCityof

CentraliaurbangrowthareaforparcelslistedbelowmeetstheapprovalcriteriawithinLewisCounty

Code 17.12.100andherebyadoptsthefollowingamendments totheLewisCountyComprehensivePlan

andassociatedzoningdesignations,asshown inExhibitA,Attachment3;and

Name Assessor'sTax ComprehensivePlan LewisCountyZoningMap
ParcelsNo. Map Designation Designation

Centralia 021586003005 UrbanGrowthArea City- UrbanGrowthArea

021586003001

010592007000

010592006001

010592008003

021586004000

021586003006

010592005000

010592004000

010592003000

010592002000

010592001000

021587001000

021589005000

021589004002

021589004001

NOW THEREFORE BE ITFURTHER RESOLVED theBOCC findstheproposedamendment forparcelslisted

below,known astheGood-AvapolloMiningOpt-inrezone,meetstheapprovalcriteriawithinLewis

CountyCode 17.12.100and herebyadoptsthefollowingamendments totheLewisCounty

ComprehensivePlanandassociatedzoningdesignations,asshown inExhibitA,Attachment5;and

Name Assessor'sTax ComprehensivePlan LewisCountyZoningMap

ParcesNo. Map Designation Designation

Good-Avapollo 028043004001 MineralResourceLand MineralResourceLand(MRL)

MiningOpt-in 028043004002

028061000000

028025001000
028024001000

NOW THEREFORE BE ITFURTHER RESOLVED theBOCC findstheproposedamendment fortheparcel

listedbelow,known astheDe Goede rezone,meetstheapprovalcriteriawithinLewisCountyCode

17.12.100and herebyadoptsthefollowingamendments totheLewisCountyComprehensivePlanand

associatedzoningdesignations,asshown inExhibitA,Attachment6;and

Name Assessor'sTax ComprehensivePlan LewisCountyZoningMap

ParcelsNo. Map Designation Designation

De Goede 028519065005 OtherRuralLand RuralDevelopmentDistrict5

(RDD-5)

31



08/10/202302:25:40PM Page 12 of18

NOW THEREFORE BE ITFURTHER RESOLVED theBOCC findstheproposedamendment fortheparcel
listedbelow,known astheAdna GroceryStorerezone,meetstheapprovalcriteriawithinLewisCounty
Code 17.12.100andherebyadoptsthefollowingamendmentstotheLewisCountyComprehensivePlan
andassociatedzoningdesignations,asshown inExhibitA,Attachment7;and

Name Assessor'sTax ComprehensivePlan LewisCountyZoningMap
ParcelsNo. Map Designation Designation

AdnaGroceryStore 018752001000 SmallCommunity SmallTown MixedUse(STMU)

NOW THEREFORE BE ITFURTHER RESOLVED thattheBOCC directsstafftoproducean OfficialLewis

Countyzoningmap ormaps,asrequiredbyChapter17.200oftheLewisCountyCode,whichreflectsthe
decisionsmade inthisordinance.

APPROVED AS TO FORM: BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS
.IonathanMeyer,ProsecutingAttorney LEWISCOUNTY,WASHINGTON

:CivilDeputyProsecutingAttorney Ù idsey.Pollock,Vid Chair

ATTEST: Sea .Sw pe, e

RievaLester,ClerkoftheBoard F.LeeGrose,Commissioner

...
UNT

CE .

32



3596861 MISC
08/10/202302:25:40PM Page 13 of18

Exhibit B

Legal Description

Flood Area

Page 1

33



3596861 MISC
08/10/202302:25:40PM Page 14 of18

Newaukum ValleyGolf Course 2007 floodplaindeed restrictiondescription

That portionof the West Half of the Southwest Quarterof Section13 and the South Half of the

SoutheastQuarterof Section14,inTownship 13 North,Range 2 West, W.M., inLewis County,

Washington describedas follows:

COMMENCING atthenorthwestcornerof saidWest Half;thenceSOl°52'l8"W alongthewest

lineof saidsubdivisiona distanceof 2621.75 feettothesouthwestcornerof saidsubdivisionand

the POINT OF BEGINNING; thence S88°21'l5"E along the south lineof said subdivisiona

distanceof 1316.14feettothesoutheastcornerthereof;thenceN01°54'48"E alongtheeastlineof

saidsubdivisiona distanceof 1721.68feet;thenceN88°05'12"W a distanceof 10.00feet;thence

SO9°l7'44"W a distanceof 150.00 feet;thence S45°l6'42"W a distanceof 60.00 feet;thence

S28°l8'12"W a distanceof 55.00 feet;thence S15°21'06"W a distanceof 30.00 feet;thence

S75°28'27"W a distanceof 15.00 feet;thence N19°30'55"W a distanceof 23.00 feet;thence

N46°42'31"W a distanceof 37.00 feet;thence S77°21'41"W a distanceof 15.00 feet;thence

S21°23'58"W a distanceof 40.00 feet;thence SO9°21'36"W a distanceof 40.00 feet;thence

S33°46'35"W a distanceof 20.00 feet;thence N89°02'35"W a distanceof 15.00 feet;thence

N29°29'41"W a distanceof 45.00 feet;thence S54°31'35"W a distanceof 45.00 feet;thence

S82°36'10"W a distanceof 28.00 feet;thence S17°42'43"W a distanceof 15.00 feet;thence

S76°33'00"W a distanceof 35.00 feet;thence N04°26'23"E a distanceof 20.00 feet;thence

N1l°53'22"W a distanceof 28.00 feet;thence N50°49'37"W a distanceof 35.00 feet;thence

N23°58'49"W a distanceof 50.00 feet;thence N29°44'49"W a distanceof 42.00 feet;thence

N23°10'59"E a distanceof 60.00 feet;thence N45°25'30"E a distanceof 40.00 feet;thence

N32°01'57"E a distanceof 25.00 feet;thence S81°45'l1"E a distanceof 50.00 feet;thence

N63°26'50"E a distanceof 20.00 feet;thence S57°47'26"E a distanceof 50.00 feet;thence

N30°50'00"E a distanceof 30.00 feet;thence N88°01'03"E a distanceof 46.00 feet;thence

N21°15'58"E a distanceof 18.00 feet;thence N44°l3'52"W a distanceof 62.00 feet;thence

S43°02'38"W a distanceof 38.00 feet;thence N65°01'57"W a distanceof 50.00 feet;thence

N28°55'l6"W a distanceof 17.00 feet;thence N50°55'52"W a distanceof 87.00 feet;thence

N00°43'21"W a distanceof 23.00 feet;thence N28°23'59"E a distanceof 27.00 feet;thence

N23°34'l3"W a distanceof 25.00 feet;thence S53°00'48"W a distanceof 50.00 feet;thence

S34°51'20"W a distanceof 15.00 feet;thence S79°06'40"W a distanceof 25.00 feet;thence

N83°14'08"W a distanceof 48.00 feet;thence S62°47'47"W a distanceof 36.00 feet;thence

S49°38'50"W a distanceof 66.00 feet;thence Sl7°06'33"E a distanceof 37.00 feet;thence

S72°l7'49"E a distanceof 37.00 feet;thence S22°49'45"E a distanceof 31.00 feet;thence

S73°45'36"E a distanceof 30.00 feet;thence S41°29'25"E a distanceof 45.00 feet;thence

S0l°00'06"W a distanceof 20.00 feet;thence S47°49'10"W a distanceof 20.00 feet; thence

S44°48'59"W a distanceof 48.00 feet;thence S76°09'41"W a distanceof 45.00 feet;thence

N35°03'48"W a distanceof 40.00 feet;thence N44°31'58"W a distanceof 85.00 feet;thence

S83°44'28"W a distanceof 65.00 feet;thence S53°l2'43"W a distanceof 110.00 feet;thence

S33°37'27"E a distanceof 30.00 feet;thence N71°l6'45"E a distanceof 65.00 feet;thence

S23°27'24"E a distanceof 48.00 feet;thence S35°43'05"W a distanceof 38.00 feet;thence

N66°42'42"W a distanceof 30.00 feet;thence N53°54'12"W a distanceof 40.00 feet;thence

S57°44'36"W a distanceof 50.00 feet;thence S37°24'23"W a distanceof 40.00 feet;thence

S72°l7'l4"W a distanceof 30.00 feet;thence S75°53'20"W a distanceof 95.00 feet;thence

N60°19'04"W a distanceof 75.00 feet;thence S86°18'54"W a distanceof 40.00 feet;thence

34



3596861 MISC
08/10/202302:25:40PM Page 15 of18

S44°27'01"W a distanceof 25.00 feet;thence S28°30'34"W a distanceof 32.00 feet;thence
N88°43'05"W a distanceof 34.00 feet;thence N74°26'l7"W a distanceof 66.00 feet;thence
S71°57'36"W a distanceof 66.00 feet;thence S47°01'51"W a distanceof 40.00 feet;thence
S31°42'56"W a distanceof 40.00 feet;thenceS56°l l'04"W a distanceof 38.00 feettoa pointon
the west lineof saidWest Half which bears SOl°52'18"W a distanceof 1325.00 feetfrom the
northwest corner of said subdivision;thence N84°24'l3"W a distanceof 70.00 feet;thence
SO8°04'55"W a distanceof 35.00 feet;thence S48°31'34"E a distanceof 28.00 feet;thence
S48°45'49"W a distanceof 20.00 feet;thence SOl°34'46"W a distanceof 60.00 feet;thence
S39°54'54"W a distanceof 35.00 feet;thence S83°00'12"W a distanceof 33.00 feet;thence

S58°01'43"W a distanceof 48.00 feet;thence SO4°09'02"E a distanceof 28.00 feet;thence
S32°48'07"E a distanceof 55.00 feet;thence SOl°49'07"W a distanceof 38.00 feet;thence
S18°07'45"E a distanceof 50.00 feet;thence S12°49'04"W a distanceof 35.00 feet;thence
S37°21'08"W a distanceof 38.00 feet;thence S84°21'15"W a distanceof 32.00 feet;thence
N50°03'28"W a distanceof 67.00 feet;thence S80°l7'24"W a distanceof 26.00 feet;thence
N81°39'06"W a distanceof 35.00 feet;thence N69°28'34"W a distanceof 88.00 feet;thence
N75°53'l8"W a distanceof 36.00 feet;thence N51°41'59"W a distanceof 18.00 feet;thence
N53°24'10"E a distanceof 18.00 feet;thence N70°00'33"E a distanceof 33.00 feet;thence
N57°40'31"E a distanceof 100.00 feet;thence N76°08'13"E a distanceof 28.00 feet;thence
N54°28'38"E a distanceof 20.00 feet;thence N72°57'34"E a distanceof 40.00 feet;thence
N44°32'23"E a distanceof 21.00 feet;thence N07°33'34"W a distanceof 35.00 feet;thence
N47°54'21"W a distanceof 55.00 feet;thence N70°42'46"W a distanceof 40.00 feet;thence
N80°l5'25"W a distanceof 28.00 feet;thence N67°43'58"W a distanceof 60.00 feet;thence
N74°00'l6"W a distanceof 25.00 feet;thence N85°34'l8"W a distanceof 33.00 feet;thence

S67°47'56"W a distanceof 33.00 feet;thence SO0°20'00"W a distanceof 38.00 feet;thence
S74°20'15"W a distanceof 45.00 feet;thence S83°45'38"W a distanceof 38.00 feet;thence
S47°05'46"W a distanceof 35.00 feet;thence S70°53'38"W a distanceof 100.00 feet;thence
S50°46'38"W a distanceof 50.00 feet;thence S44°19'53"W a distanceof 50.00 feet;thence
S84°59'30"W a distanceof 23.00 feet;thence S74°10'22"W a distanceof 48.00 feet;thence
S88°08'39"W a cistanceof 60.00 feet;thence N82°22'40"W a distanceof 85.00 feet;thence
N89°l6'50"W a distanceof 38.00 feet;thence S75°24'45"W a distanceof 32.00 feet;thence

SO8°02'52"W a distanceof 26.00 feet;thence N67°29'30"W a distanceof 28.00 feet;thence
S88°43'19"W a distanceof 82.00 feet;thence S53°06'38"W a distanceof 42.00 feet;thence
SO5°38'l8"E a distanceof 25.00 feet;thence S43°08'04"E a distanceof 30.00 feet;thence
S57°35'l5"E a distanceof 43.00 feet;thence S87°03'09"E a distanceof 25.00 feet;thence

N76°l5'48"E a distanceof 69.00 feet;thence S38°45'25"E a distanceof 15.00 feet;thence
S82°57'09"E a distanceof 25.00 feet;thence N49°55'l8"E a distanceof 45.00 feet;thence

N21°53'l3"E a distanceof 20.00 feet;thence N09°37'46"W a distanceof 15.00 feet;thence

N30°35'56"W a distanceof 15.00 feet;thence N27°55'l3"E a distanceof 15.00 feet;thence

N88°l6'25"E a distanceof 25.00 feet;thence S71°36'30"E a distanceof 33.00 feet;thence
S85°49'05"E a distanceof 100.00 feet;thence S58°51'22"E a distanceof 24.00 feet;thence

S43°58'06"W a distanceof 35.00 feet;thence S10°00'52"E a distanceof 22.00 feet;thence
S63°46'51"W a distanceof 62.21 feet;thence S53°02'32"W a distanceof 35.00 feet;thence
N82°46'50"W a distanceof 70.00 feet;thence S87°l0'20"W a distanceof 90.00 feet;thence
S74°29'22"W a distanceof 40.00 feet;thence S59°45'04"W a distanceof 30.27 feet;thence
S79°l l'34"W a distanceof 30.00 feet;thence N72°20'36"W a distanceof 48.00 feet;thence
S79°27'35"W a distanceof 39.00 feet;thence S50°54'39"W a distanceof 40.32 feet;thence

35



3596861 MISC
08/10/202302:25:40PM Page 16 of18

S26°00'31"W a distanceof 35.00 feet;thence SO0°38'40"W a distanceof 30.00 feet;thence

S22°30'54"E a distanceof 40.00 feet;thence S40°08'48"E a distanceof 30.00 feet;thence

S45°15'38"E a distanceof 33.00 feet;thence S30°08'l6"W a distanceof 15.00 feet;thence

N81°l5'48"W a distanceof 20.00 feet;thence N64°02'35"W a distanceof 148.00 feet;thence

N77°01'l5"W a distanceof 20.00 feet;thence N48°22'35"W a distanceof 30.00 feet;thence

N61°32'55"W a distanceof 30.00 feet;thence N65°l9'29"W a distanceof 120.00 feet;thence

N52°04'52"W a distanceof 30.00 feet;thence N62°10'00"W a distanceof 25.00 feet;thence

N82°l4'00"W a distanceof 37.00 feet;thence N71°09'56"W a distanceof 34.00 feet;thence

N88°50'26"W a distanceof 27.00 feet;thence N79°57'08"W a distanceof 20.00 feet;thence

S86°20'35"W a distanceof 17.00 feet;thence S71°22'04"W a distanceof 21.00 feet;thence

N44°34'12"W a distanceof 17.00 feet;thence N63°41'l1"W a distanceof 26.00 feet;thence

N49°l9'43"W a cistanceof 15.00 feet;thence N57°26'52"W a distanceof 32.00 feet;thence

N86°09'42"W a aistanceof 15.00 feet;thence S69°44'03"W a distanceof 23.00 feet;thence

S8l°24'36"W a distanceof 23.00 feet;thence N79°l l'59"W a distanceof 22.00 feet;thence

N69°05'20"W a aistanceof 18.00 feet;thence N87°45'03"W a distanceof 34.00 feet;thence

S83°l I'09"W a distanceof 46.00 feet;thence S89°48'03"W a distanceof 30.00 feet;thence

S71°53'48"W a distanceof 15.00 feet;thence S42°33'50"W a distanceof 15.00 feet;thence

S10°21'56"W a distanceof 15.00 feet;thence S71°26'l5"W a distanceof 10.00 feet;thence

N85°21'08"W a distanceof 45.00 feet;thence S75°03'45"W a distanceof 45.00 feet;thence

S55°29'41"W a cistanceof 21.00 feet;thence Si6°39'45"E a distanceof 26.00 feet;thence

S27°10'37"W a ds ance of 26.00 feet;thence S66°39'55"W a distanceof 15.00 feet;thence

S55°30'30"W a cisance of 15.00 feet;thence S85°27'59"W a distanceof 45.00 feet;thence

N88°25'00"W a distanceof 57.00 feet;dence N74°59'25"W a distanceof 20.00 feet;thence

N37°l l'23"W a Cstance of 43.00 feet;thence N79°42'08"W a distanceof 24.00 feet;thence

N66°37'01"W a sistanceof 22.00 feet;thence N74°05'42"W a distanceof 92.00 feet;thence

N87°07'41"W a distanceof 47.00 feet;Inence N73°l4'09"W a distanceof 27.00 feet;thence

N88°48'35"W a distanceof 47.00 feet;inence N88°51'48"W a distanceof 35.00 feet;thence

N35°27'53"W a c stanceof 44.00 feet;thenceN57°1 l'l7"W a distanceof 39.00 feettothewest

lineof saidSoutl half of the SoutheastQuarterof Section14;thence SOl°44'03"W along said

west linea sistare af 384 feet,more or ,ess,to the centerlineof theNewaukum River;thence

Northeasterlyanc Southeasterlyalong saiacenterlinea distanceof 1460 feet,more or less,tothe

south lineof saic subdivision;thence S88°lS'45"E along the south lineof saidsubdivisiona

distanceof 1603 es more or less,tothePOINT OF BEGINNING.

Encompassing 88 40 acres,more or less

36



3596861 MISC
08/10/202302:25:40PM Page 17 of18

Exhibit C

2007 Mapped Flood Area

Page|1

37



3596861 MISC
08/10/202302:25:40PM Page 18 of18

F

EXHIBIT ___
O

Z

O O
O

O

38



39



40



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO: The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY: Kassi Mackie, City Clerk 

MEETING OF: November 13, 2023 

SUBJECT:  Resolution No. 21-2023, Declaring Surplus Property 

ISSUE 

The Chehalis Fire Department has property that is no longer being used. State law requires that 
municipal property must first be declared surplus by the City Council before being sold, 
transferred, or disposed of.    

DISCUSSION 

The Chehalis Fire Department has requested the Council consider the surplus of multiple items 
housed within the old Fire Station 48 Building that are no longer needed.  These items are listed 
below: 

1. Misc. Fire Hose Sections (See Attached)
2. Portable Dishwasher
3. Misc Kitchen Appliances (See Attached)
4. Misc Items (See Attached)
5. Commercial Gas Dryer for Fire Suppression Uniforms
6. Misc Scott SCBA Masks/Packs/Regulators
7. Stryker Gurney
8. Misc Tables and Chairs
9. Wascomat Junior PPE Extractor Washer

With the purchase of a new ladder truck the 1996 Spartan/Darley-Nova Ladder Truck has been 
added to the list of surplus property. With Council authorization to declare this item surplus, this 
truck will be advertised for sale and has a value of approximately $45,000. 

The Defender 3E Long Bed Wildland Skid and 200-gallon tank with attached pump originally 
purchased for wildland fire suppression is no longer necessary with the purchase of the brush 
engine in early October after the department had received Council approval. With Council 
authorization to declare this item surplus, it will be advertised for sale and has a fair market value 
of $8,000. 

41



The Chehalis Fire Department is also requesting authorization to declare a 2003 Swiftwater 
Rescue Boat, Yamaha outboard motor, boat trailer and accessories as surplus and donate these 
items to Lewis County Fire District 6. The approximate value of these items combined is $2,000. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 

None.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

It is recommended that the City Council approve Resolution No. 21-2023 and declare these 
items as surplus to be disposed of in the manner requested by staff.  
 
SUGGESTED MOTION 
 

I move that the City Council approve Resolution No. 21-2023.  
 
 

42



RESOLUTION NO. 21-2023 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, 
WASHINGTON, DECLARING PERSONAL PROPERTY OF 
THE CITY OF CHEHALIS TO BE SURPLUS AND OF NO 
FURTHER USE TO THE CITY, AND DIRECTING THE 
DISPOSITION THEREOF. 

 
 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON, DO 
RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. The following described personal property of the city of Chehalis, 
Washington, a municipal corporation, shall be, and the same hereby is, declared to be surplus 
and no longer of necessary use. 

 
Chehalis Fire Department Identifying Information 

1. 1996 Spartan/Darley-Nova Aerial Articulating 
Platform Ladder Truck 

2. 2003 Swiftwater rescue boat. 
3. Yamaha Outboard Boat Motor 
4. Boat Trailer 
5. Boat Accessories (Paddles, Fuel Tank, Launch 

Wheels, Battery, Propeller) 
6. Defender 3E Long Bed Wildland Skid/200 

Gallon Tank with Attached Pump 
7. Misc. Fire Hose Sections (See Attached) 
8. Portable Dishwasher 
9. Misc Kitchen Appliances (See Attached) 
10. Misc Items (See Attached) 
11. Commercial Gas Dryer for Fire Suppression 

Uniforms 
12. Misc Scott SCBA Masks/Packs/Regulators 
13. Stryker Gurney 
14. Misc Tables and Chairs 
15. Wascomat Junior PPE Extractor Washer 

 

1. Vin: 4S7AT9D04SC017328 
2. AVON ERB-380 
3. F40LEHA 
4. EZ Loader 68BT Plate #37858D 
5. None 
6. Tank 150658 Pump 17229242619 Pump 

5213HE/NPT 
7. None 
8. Serial #SO-9263SS City Tag #30337 
9. None 
10. None 
11. Serial #65500/0021376 
12. None 
13. Serial #030639356 City Tag# 30180 
14. None 
15. City Tag #03120 

 
Section 2.  The personal property described herein shall be disposed of by the City 

Manager. 
 
 ADOPTED by the City Council of the city of Chehalis, Washington, and APPROVED 
by its Mayor, at a regularly scheduled open public meeting thereof this _____ day of 
_______________, 2023. 
 
 
       ______________________________ 
                  Mayor 

43



 
 
Attest: 
 
 
______________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to form and content: 
 
 
______________________________ 
City Attorney 

44



Surplus Property Form 
 

Please complete this form and submit to the City Clerk.  Property will be surplussed on a quarterly 
basis during the second City Council meetings of March, June, and September, and the first meeting of 
December. 
 
Item: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Identifying Information: 
 

City Tag # N/A 
Serial #  
Model #  
VIN # 4S7AT9D04SC017328 
Other  
 
Date Purchased (if known)  Purchase Price (if known) 
 

2019 $ Unknown 
 
Current Fair Market Value (if item is to be sold) $_____45,000.00_________________ 
 
What was the property used for and why is it being disposed of? (Stress condition of 
property) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
How will the property be disposed of? 
 

X Sell 

□  Trade-in 

□ Auction 

□  Donate 

□ Dispose of 

□ Other (please explain) 

1996 Spartan/Darley-Nova Aerial Articulating Platform Ladder Truck 
 
 

       
       
         
         
    

 

Ladder truck provided the city with an Aerial master stream and elevated rescue and roof access. 
 
Known issues:  

• 27 year old truck.  
• Wire Corrosion throughout the wiring harness from the turn table to the bucket 
• Multiple issues, beyond troubleshooting due to wiring corrosion issues 
• Lack of replacement parts from manufacturer, manufacturer out of business and no longer offer support 
• Lack of parts availability from any manufacturer (OEM) or others 

 

7/23/2018 45



46



Surplus Property Form 
 

Please complete this form and submit to the City Clerk.  Property will be surplussed on a quarterly 
basis during the second City Council meetings of March, June, and September, and the first meeting of 
December. 
 
Item: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Identifying Information: 
 

City Tag #  
Serial # 1301829 
Model # Avon ERB-380 
 Yamaha F40LEHA 
 EZ Loader 68BT 
VIN # GB AVB44272B303 
 Trailer plate 37858D 
Other  
 
Date Purchased (if known)  Purchase Price (if known) 
 

2003 $10,000.00 
 
Current Fair Market Value (if item is to be sold) $_2000.00____________________ 
 
What was the property used for and why is it being disposed of? (Stress condition of 
property) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
How will the property be disposed of? 
 

• 2003 Avon ERB-380 swiftwater rescue boat. 
• Yamaha F40LEHA Outboard Boat Motor 
• EZ Loader 68BT 14'-17' Boat Trailer 
• Boat Accessories (Paddles, Fuel Tank, Launch Wheels, Battery, Propeller), 

This boat served the department and community for several years as our primary water rescue boat. This boat 
sustained damage during a rescue and was replaced by another and is no longer needed.   

47



□ Sell 

□  Trade-in 

□ Auction 

X  Donate to LCFD6 

□ Dispose of 

□ Other (please explain) 
7/23/2018 

48



Surplus Property Form 
 

Please complete this form and submit to the City Clerk.  Property will be surplussed on a quarterly 
basis during the second City Council meetings of March, June, and September, and the first meeting of 
December. 
 
Item: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Identifying Information: 
 

City Tag # N/A 
Serial # Tank 150658 Pump 17229242619 
Model # Pump 5213HE/NPT 
VIN #  
Other  
 
Date Purchased (if known)  Purchase Price (if known) 
 

2019 $ Unknown 
 
Current Fair Market Value (if item is to be sold) $_____8,000.00_________________ 
 
What was the property used for and why is it being disposed of? (Stress condition of 
property) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
How will the property be disposed of? 
 

X Sell 

□  Trade-in 

□ Auction 

□  Donate 

□ Dispose of 

□ Other (please explain) 

Defender 3E Long Bed Wild Land Skid  
200-gallon tank with attached pump. 
 

          
       
       
         
         
    

 

This item was purchased to place in an 8’ pick-up bed for wildland fire suppression. 

7/23/2018 49



50



Surplus Property Form 
 

Please complete this form and submit to the City Clerk.  Property will be surplussed on a quarterly 
basis during the second City Council meetings of March, June, and September, and the first meeting of 
December. 
 
Item: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Identifying Information: 
 

City Tag #   
Serial #    
Model #    
   
   
VIN #   
   
Other  
 
Date Purchased (if known)  Purchase Price (if known) 
 

Unknown    
 
Current Fair Market Value (if item is to be sold) $______0.00_______________ 
 
What was the property used for and why is it being disposed of? (Stress condition of 
property) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

13- sections of 5” LDH Hose   
3- Sections of 3” Fire hose 
2-sections 2.5” Fire hose 
2-Sections 1.75” Fire hose  
1-Section 1.5” Wild land hose 

Water supply and Suppression hose.      

51



How will the property be disposed of? 
 

□ Sell 

□ Trade-in 

□ Auction 

□ Donate 

X Dispose of 

□ Other (please explain) 
7/23/2018 

52



Surplus Property Form 
 

Please complete this form and submit to the City Clerk.  Property will be surplussed on a quarterly 
basis during the second City Council meetings of March, June, and September, and the first meeting of 
December. 
 
Item: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Identifying Information: 
 

City Tag # 30337 
Serial #  SO-9263SS 
Model #  SPT 
   
   
VIN #   
   
Other  
 
Date Purchased (if known)  Purchase Price (if known) 
 

Unknown    
 
Current Fair Market Value (if item is to be sold) $_50.00____________________ 
 
What was the property used for and why is it being disposed of? (Stress condition of 
property) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Portable Dishwasher  

Cleaning dishes at old station 48.    

53



How will the property be disposed of? 
 

X Sell 

□  Trade-in 

□ Auction 

□ Donate 

□ Dispose of 

□ Other (please explain) 
7/23/2018 

54



Surplus Property Form 
 

Please complete this form and submit to the City Clerk.  Property will be surplussed on a quarterly 
basis during the second City Council meetings of March, June, and September, and the first meeting of 
December. 
 
Item: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Identifying Information: 
 

City Tag # N/A 
Serial #  N/A 
Model # N/A 
   
   
VIN #   
   
Other  
 
Date Purchased (if known)  Purchase Price (if known) 
 

Unknown    
 
Current Fair Market Value (if item is to be sold) $_500.00____________________ 
 
What was the property used for and why is it being disposed of? (Stress condition of 
property) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Range/Oven  
• Range Hood 
• Dishwasher  
• Fridge   

Kitchen appliances from old station 48    

55



How will the property be disposed of? 
 

X Sell 

□  Trade-in 

□ Auction 

□ Donate 

□ Dispose of 

□ Other (please explain) 
7/23/2018 

56



Surplus Property Form 
 

Please complete this form and submit to the City Clerk.  Property will be surplussed on a quarterly 
basis during the second City Council meetings of March, June, and September, and the first meeting of 
December. 
 
Item: Miscellaneous  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Identifying Information: 
 

City Tag #  N/A 
Serial #   N/A 
Model #   N/A 
   
   
VIN #  N/A 
   
Other  
 
Date Purchased (if known)  Purchase Price (if known) 
 

Unknown    
 
Current Fair Market Value (if item is to be sold) $_____________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• 37 - stackable Chairs  
• 8 - folding chairs 
• 7 - tables 
• 6 - four drawer file cabinets 
• 4 - two drawer file cabinets 
• 1 - folding table  
•  3 bookshelves 
• 5 - desks 
• 5 - desk chairs 
• 1 - TV 
• 3 - couches 

57



What was the property used for and why is it being disposed of? (Stress condition of 
property) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
How will the property be disposed of? 
 

X Sell 

□  Trade-in 

□ Auction 

X Donate 

□ Dispose of 

□ Other (please explain) 

Miscellaneous furniture item from old station 48.     

7/23/2018 

58



Surplus Property Form 
 

Please complete this form and submit to the City Clerk.  Property will be surplussed on a quarterly 
basis during the second City Council meetings of March, June, and September, and the first meeting of 
December. 
 
Item: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Identifying Information: 
 

City Tag #  
Serial #   65500/0021376 
Model #   N2550G217 
   
   
VIN #   
   
Other  
 
Date Purchased (if known)  Purchase Price (if known) 
 

Unknown   
 
Current Fair Market Value (if item is to be sold) $______2,000.00_______________ 
 
What was the property used for and why is it being disposed of? (Stress condition of 
property) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1- Commercial Gas Dryer for fire suppression gear.   

For cleaning Fire Suppression garments.      

59



How will the property be disposed of? 
 

X Sell 

□ Trade-in 

□ Auction 

□ Donate 

□ Dispose of 

□ Other (please explain) 
7/23/2018 

60



Surplus Property Form 
 

Please complete this form and submit to the City Clerk.  Property will be surplussed on a quarterly 
basis during the second City Council meetings of March, June, and September, and the first meeting of 
December. 
 
Item: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Identifying Information: 
 

City Tag #   
Serial #    
Model #    
   
   
VIN #   
   
Other  
 
Date Purchased (if known)  Purchase Price (if known) 
 

Unknown   $4500.00 
 
Current Fair Market Value (if item is to be sold) $______0.00_______________ 
 
What was the property used for and why is it being disposed of? (Stress condition of 
property) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 Scott SCBA Mask  
2 Scott SCBA Packs 
2 Scott Regulators  

Respirator Protection for Firefighters     

61



How will the property be disposed of? 
 

□ Sell 

□  Trade-in 

□ Auction 

X Donate 

□ Dispose of 

□ Other (please explain) 
7/23/2018 

62



Surplus Property Form 
 

Please complete this form and submit to the City Clerk.  Property will be surplussed on a quarterly 
basis during the second City Council meetings of March, June, and September, and the first meeting of 
December. 
 
Item: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Identifying Information: 
 

City Tag #  30180 
Serial #   030639356 
Model #   6082 MX-PRO 
   
   
VIN #   
   
Other  
 
Date Purchased (if known)  Purchase Price (if known) 
 

Unknown   $8,000.00 
 
Current Fair Market Value (if item is to be sold) $______1,500.00_______________ 
 
What was the property used for and why is it being disposed of? (Stress condition of 
property) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1- Stryker Gurney   

Move and Transport patient.      

63



How will the property be disposed of? 
 

X Sell 

□ Trade-in 

□ Auction 

□ Donate 

□ Dispose of 

□ Other (please explain) 
7/23/2018 

64



Surplus Property Form 
 

Please complete this form and submit to the City Clerk.  Property will be surplussed on a quarterly 
basis during the second City Council meetings of March, June, and September, and the first meeting of 
December. 
 
Item: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Identifying Information: 
 

City Tag #   
Serial #    
Model #    
   
   
VIN #   
   
Other  
 
Date Purchased (if known)  Purchase Price (if known) 
 

Unknown    
 
Current Fair Market Value (if item is to be sold) $_____________________ 
 
What was the property used for and why is it being disposed of? (Stress condition of 
property) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Chairs  
• Tables  

Chairs and tables for the training space at old station 48.     

65



How will the property be disposed of? 
 

X Sell 

□  Trade-in 

□ Auction 

□ Donate 

□ Dispose of 

□ Other (please explain) 
7/23/2018 

66



Surplus Property Form 
 

Please complete this form and submit to the City Clerk.  Property will be surplussed on a quarterly 
basis during the second City Council meetings of March, June, and September, and the first meeting of 
December. 
 
Item: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Identifying Information: 
 

City Tag # 03120 
Serial #   
Model #  W75 
   
   
VIN #   
   
Other  
 
Date Purchased (if known)  Purchase Price (if known) 
 

Unknown    
 
Current Fair Market Value (if item is to be sold) $_250.00____________________ 
 
What was the property used for and why is it being disposed of? (Stress condition of 
property) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Wascomat Junior PPE Extractor washer.  

Gear washer for Firefighter protective clothing     

67



How will the property be disposed of? 
 

□ Sell 

□  Trade-in 

□ Auction 

X Donate 

□ Dispose of 

□ Other (please explain) 
7/23/2018 

68



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO: The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY: Andrew Hunziker, Parks and Facilities Manager 

MEETING OF: November 13, 2023 

SUBJECT: Westside Park Improvement Project - Authorize Payment to Play Creation, Inc. for 
Playground Equipment   

ISSUE 

On January 9, 2023, the City Council authorized the purchase of playground equipment for Westside Park, 
as well as the expenditure of funds for other components of the project including fencing and construction 
of parking spaces. The equipment, which is produced by Landscape Structures, was purchased from Play 
Creation, Inc. and recently installed based on that approval.  The Finance Department has asked that the 
City Council specifically approve the purchase of the equipment from Play Creation, Inc. prior to payment.   

DISCUSSION 

Play Creation, Inc. was selected to provide playground equipment for the improvement project at Westside 
Park.  The equipment was purchased through a government contract using a NASBO Value Point Purchasing 
Agreement. Utilizing a purchasing agreement provides volume discounts with pre-negotiated price 
reductions while ensuring the required procurement procedures are followed. 

This contract included the purchase of the Landscape Structures play equipment, the installation of the 
equipment using certified staff, and the purchase of engineered wood fiber playground safety surfacing.   
This is the same purchasing process and vendor used for the Penny Playground project.  The quality of the 
playground equipment and the service provided by the vendor and manufacturer has been more than 
satisfactory at Penny Playground and is expected to continue with the equipment installed at Westside Park. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The fiscal impact for this component of the project is $55,782.59.  The project will be funded using previously 
dedicated Park Improvement Funds and 2nd Quarter REET Funds that have been reserved for the Westside 
Park Project. 

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that the City Council confirm the award of the Westside Park playground equipment 
purchase contract to Play Creations, Inc. using a NASBO Value Point Purchasing Agreement and authorize 
payment in the amount of $55,782.59. 

69



SUGGESTED MOTION 

I move that the City Council confirm the award of the Westside Park playground equipment purchase 
contract to Play Creations, Inc. using a NASBO Value Point Purchasing Agreement and authorize payment 
in the amount of $55,782.59. 

 

 

70



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO:  The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM:  Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY:  Chun Saul, Finance Director 

MEETING OF: November 13, 2023 

SUBJECT:  Public Hearing on the 2024 Preliminary City Revenue Sources -Setting  Property Tax 
Levies 

ISSUE 

Per RCW 84.55.120, the City is required to hold a public hearing on revenue sources for the City’s 
following year’s current expense budget that is primarily funded by taxes and charges and reflects the 
provision of ongoing services.   

The hearing must include consideration of possible increase in property tax revenues and must be held 
for the time the taxing district levies the taxes or makes the request to have the taxes levied.  A single 
public hearing may be held on this matter.  

 DISCUSSION 

The 2024 Preliminary Budget, which includes a summary of anticipated revenues and expenditures, is 
available for public review at City Hall, the Finance Department, and on the City’s website at 
www.ci.chehalis.wa.us.  

2024 GENERAL FUND BUDGET OVERVIEW 

The  General Fund is the primary operating fund used for basic municipal services. It accounts for all 
financial resources except those required or designated to be accounted for in another fund. The funding 
sources for the General Fund come from property tax, sales tax, utility tax, leasehold excise tax, fees for 
services, intergovernmental revenues and 
grants, and other miscellaneous revenues.  

The 2024 Preliminary budget for the General 
Fund is balanced with use of $996,439 of 
General Fund reserves (beginning fund 
balance). The 2024 projected General Fund 
revenue totals $12,918,625 which includes 
$104,970 transfers in from other city funds. The 
estimated fund balance at the end of 2024 is $1,044,544, which is about 8.1% of the 2024 preliminary 
revenue budget.  

General Fund Budget Summary
2024 Preliminary 

Budget
Estimated Beginning Cash* 2,040,983$             
Revenues & Transfers In 12,918,625$           
Expenditures & Transfers Out 13,915,064$           
Net Revenues Over (under) Expenditures (996,439)$               
Estimated Ending Cash Balance 1,044,544$             
Ending Fund Balance % of Revenue Budget 8.1%

71

http://www.ci.chehalis.wa.us/


Total revenues by major revenues sources are summarized in the table below: 
 

 
 
Total tax revenue projection is $10,946,600 and makes up 84.7% of the General Fund revenues which 
support the governmental services provided by the General Fund. The total tax revenue projected in the 
2024 Preliminary Budget is 6.6% or $677,613 increase from the 2023 amended budget.  
 

 
 
Property tax is the second largest revenue source for the City’s General Fund and makes up about 17.3% 
of the 2024 General Fund revenues. Property tax levies are typically used for local governments for 
operating and maintenance costs. They are not commonly used for capital improvements. 
 

General Fund Revenue 
Summary 2021 Actual 2022 Actual

2023 
Amended 

Budget

2024 
Proposed 

Budget
Change 2024-

2023
% 

Change
2024 Prct 
of Total

Property Tax 1,987,256$    2,160,880$    2,182,487$    2,229,100$    46,613$        2.1% 17.3%
Sales Tax 6,039,307$    6,528,513$    6,332,100$    6,913,100$    581,000$     9.2% 53.5%
Utility Tax 1,685,146$    1,745,079$    1,697,800$    1,742,400$    44,600$        2.6% 13.5%
Leasehold Excise Tax 51,379$          53,163$          56,600$          62,000$          5,400$          9.5% 0.5%

Total Taxes 9,763,088$   10,487,635$ 10,268,987$ 10,946,600$ 677,613$     6.6% 84.7%
Fees, Licenses & Permits 872,326$        1,076,407$    961,900$        1,006,471$    44,571$        4.6% 7.8%
Intergovernmental Revenue 394,552$        443,780$        474,311$        440,784$        (33,527)$      -7.1% 3.4%
Other Miscellaneous 164,293$        410,385$        360,300$        317,200$        (43,100)$      -12.0% 2.5%
Fines & Penalties 103,480$        87,854$          115,900$        102,600$        (13,300)$      -11.5% 0.8%
Transfers In -$                 270,287$        182,867$        104,970$        (77,897)$      -42.6% 0.8%
Total 11,297,739$  12,776,348$  12,364,265$  12,918,625$  554,360$     4.5% 100.0%

72



The 2024 preliminary expenditures budget for the  General Fund is $13,915,064 which includes routine 
transfers out to the Street Fund $1,113,700, the LEOFF I OPEB Trust Fund $275,988, and the Parks 
Improvement Fund $44,400 for a total of $1,434,088.  The 2024 preliminary expenditure budget is an 
approximate 0.04% or $5,771 increase from the 2023 amended budget. Non-routine transfers out to the 
general fund reserve funds decreased by $800,000 while all other expenditure and routine operating 
transfers out budget increase by $805,777 or about 6.1% from the 2023 amended budget. Salaries and 
benefits budget increased by $646,659 or 7.8% from the 2023 amended budget. Salaries and benefits 
makes up about 64% of the total General Fund 2024 Preliminary Budget. 
 
The combined budgets for the Police and Fire Departments is $7,054,192 which is about 51.0% of the 
2024 General Fund expenditures, which reflects the high priority of keeping residents and visitors in 
Chehalis safe.  The Facilities and Parks maintenance receives the next single highest level of funding at 
about 12% of the 2024 General Fund expenditures. About 8.0% of the 2024 General Fund budget is 
allocated for city street maintenance which is included in the non-departmental budget as transfers out 
to the Street Fund.  
 

 
 
PROPERTY TAX – ANNUAL LEVY ACTION – PROPOSED AMOUNT 
 
The City Council must set the levy every year to support the cost of general government, and the property 
tax levy for upcoming year must be certified to the County Assessor no later than November 30.  
 

73



Property taxes are the second largest source of revenue in the General Fund for the City. All real and 
personal property (except where exempt by law) is assessed by the Lewis County Assessor at 100 percent 
of the property's true and fair market value. Every parcel in the county must be physically inspected and 
reappraised at least once every six years. Assessed values are adjusted each year based on market value 
changes. The county treasurer acts as an agent to collect property tax levied in the county for all taxing 
authorities, including Chehalis. Collections are distributed after the end of each month. Property tax 
revenues are recognized when cash is received by the City of Chehalis. Delinquent taxes are considered 
fully collectible because a lien affixes to the property after tax is levied.  
 
Cities and counties with a population under 10,000 may not increase their total levy amount more than 
1% annually, known as the “levy lid” (excluding levies for new construction or increases in state-assessed 
utility valuations) over the previous year’s lawful levy amount. However, local governments can exceed 
the 1% levy lid if they have banked capacity available under RCW 84.55.092. If a jurisdiction did not take 
the maximum 1% increase in the past, it will have banked capacity available. The City of Chehalis had a 
banked capacity of approximately $247,000 going into 2024 tax levy year.  
 
The cost of providing services to Chehalis residents and businesses continues to increase, and it has 
become necessary to consider the 1% statutorily allowed increase in the property tax levy so that the 
current level of municipal services, including police and fire, can be maintained.   
 
Total property tax revenue projected in the 2024 Preliminary Budget includes the maximum 1% increase 
over the 2023 highest lawful levy limit (HLL) and an estimated increase from new construction.  The 2024 
preliminary valuation report and the new construction tax amount were provided by the County Assessor 
on November 3, 2023, and the following proposed property tax levy amounts reflect the updated new 
construction increase which can be updated for the Final budget. 
 
The proposed total amount of property tax levies to be collected in 2024 are as follows: 
 

• Total General Levy at $1,768,428.64 
• Total EMS Levy at $487,030.15 

 
The total proposed property tax levies includes the maximum 1% increase and increase for new 
construction and administrative refunds. 
 

 

Description 2024 General Levy 2024 EMS Levy Total 2024 Levy
2023 Highest Lawful Levy (HLL) 1,955,489.15$          481,731.32$              2,437,220.47$        

2023 Tax Year Actual Levy Amount 1,712,769.38$          472,263.81$              2,185,033.19$        
1% Increase over 2023 HLL 19,554.89$                4,817.31$                   24,372.20$              

2024 Levy Limit Before Add-Ons 1,732,324.27$          477,081.12$              2,209,405.39$        
Plus Add-Ons:
Increase from new construction 31,841.41$                8,779.67$                   40,621.08$              
Administrative Refunds 4,262.96$                   1,169.36$                   5,432.32$                

Total Add-Ons 36,104.37$                9,949.03$                   46,053.40$              
2024 Preliminary Levy Amount Authorized 1,768,428.64$          487,030.15$              2,255,458.79$        

Ordinance No. 1081-B
2024 Property Tax Levy Amount - City of Chehalis

74



 
The following table illustrates the dollar amounts and percentage changes in proposed property tax 
levies for 2024 over 2023: 

 
*This increase is exclusive of additional revenue resulting from new construction, property improvements, any 
increase in the value of state assessed property, any annexations that have occurred, or property tax administrative 
refunds. 
 
The table below illustrates the changes for the 2024 preliminary proposed levies (including new 
construction and administrative refunds) compared with the 2023 actual levies:  
 

 
 
The new construction levy does not increase the 
overall tax rate paid by property owners. While new 
growth and development will increase the City’s 
property tax revenues, providing services to these 
areas will also increase operating and maintenance 
costs. 
 
Although property taxes represent a major source 
of funding for the City services, the portion of each 
property owners’ total tax bill allocated to the City 
is relatively small. In 2023, total levy rate for a 
typical Chehalis resident was $8.36034 per $1,000 
Assessed Value. The City’s portion of the total tax 
rate, including the EMS levy, was only 23.6% (or 
$1.967696/$1,000 AV) of the total. 
 

Tax Levy
2023 Highest 

Lawful Levy (HLL) 2023 Actual Levy

1% Increase over 
2023 Highest 

Lawful Levy (HLL)
Use of Banked 

Capacity 

Total Amount 
Increase in 2024 
from 2023 Levy*

Percent 
Increase over 

2023

General Levy 1,955,489.15$       1,712,769.38$       19,554.89$             -$                        19,554.89$             1.141712%

EMS Levy 481,731.32$           472,263.81$           4,817.31$                -$                        4,817.31$                1.020047%

Ordinance No. 1082-B
Dollar Amounts and Percentage of Changes in Property Tax Levies for 2024 over 2023

2023 Tax Year 2024 Tax Year (1) Change 2024-2023 % Change

Assessed Value (1) 1,105,246,154.00$  1,322,496,849.00$  217,250,695.00$   19.7%

Regular Levy Amount 1,712,769.38$          1,768,428.64$          55,659.26$              3.2%

Regular Levy Rate per $1000 AV 1.549672327564$    1.33718930434$      (0.21248302323)$  -13.7%

EMS Levy Amount 472,263.81$              487,030.15$              14,766.34$              3.1%

EMS Levy Rate per $1000 AV 0.427292877963$    0.36826564356$      (0.05902723441)$  -13.8%

Total Regular & EMS Levy Amount 2,185,033.19$          2,255,458.79$          70,425.60$              3.2%

Total Levy Rate per $1000 AV 1.976965205527$    1.70545494789$      (0.27151025763)$  -13.7%
(1)  2024 figures are based on the Preliminary Assessed Value report provided by Lewis County Assessor 11/3/2023.
Includes increase for new construction $20,547,190  but not state assessed utility values as the information is not yet available.

City of Chehalis  Property Tax Levies: 2023 Actual vs. 2024 Preliminary

75



The annual tax impact on a property owner is usually different than the percent increase of the levy, since 
it depends on several factors such as changes in the assessed valuation of the property, growth in the 
City’s overall assessed valuation, and levy increase by other taxing districts.  
 
Since the general fund levy is subject to the 1% annual “levy lid:, if  the city’s assessed value is increasing 
more than 1% per year, excluding new construction and state-assessed utilities, the levy rate will begin to 
decrease as a result.  
 
The below table illustrates the changes in tax amount and percent changes  for two different scenarios. 
Both property A and B had $400,000 assessed value (AV) in 2022. Property A’s AV increase by 17.0% to 
$468,000 in 2023, whereas Property B’s AV increased by 20.0% to $480,000. Tax increase in 2024 for 
property A is $7.37 (0.9%) and property B is $27.83 (3.5%). 
 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the City Council open the public hearing, accept public comments, close the public 
hearing, and consider this information when taking action on these items, which are scheduled on this 
meeting agenda under “New Business” with agenda reports that provide additional information on the 
Budget and the related ordinances.     
 
SUGGESTED MOTION 
 
There is no motion needed after the public hearing. 

Estimated Tax Calculation
Property A 2023 Tax Year 2024 Tax Year Amt. Change % Change
AV 400,000.00$              468,000.00$              68,000.00$              17.0%
City Levy Rate* 1.9770$                      1.7055$                      (0.2715)$                  -13.7%
City Tax 790.79$                      798.15$                      7.37$                        0.9%
*Total including general and EMS levy

Property B 2023 Tax Year 2024 Tax Year Amt. Change % Change
AV 400,000.00$              480,000.00$              80,000.00$              20.0%
City Levy Rate* 1.9770$                      1.7055$                      (0.2715)$                  -13.7%
City Tax 790.79$                      818.62$                      27.83$                      3.5%
*Total including general and EMS levy

76



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO: The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY: Chun Saul, Finance Director 

DATE: November 13, 2023 

SUBJECT:  Public Hearing on the 2024 Preliminary Budget 

ISSUE 

Per RCW 35A.33.055, the City is required to hold public hearings on the preliminary budget “or parts 
thereof” followed by a hearing on the final budget.  This public hearing is to provide the public an 
opportunity to present comments and questions about the 2024 preliminary budget. This is one of the 
two required public hearings. 

SUMMARY OF PROPOSED BUDGET – ALL FUNDS COMBINED 

The many funds that comprise the city-wide budget are used to separate the primary functions and 
activities. Funds can be grouped by type: Governmental which includes the General Fund, Special Revenue 
Funds, Debt Service Fund, and Capital Project Funds; Proprietary which includes Enterprise Funds (utilities 
and Airport), and Fiduciary. Each fund has specific functions to perform and in each, the revenues and 
expenditures must be self-balancing. Overall, the City’s 2024 Budget has twenty-six funds in which it 
records its revenues and expenditures associated with providing services to its citizens. 

The City’s 2024 Preliminary Budget for all funds, as presented in Ordinance 1080-B is summarized as 
follows: 

The 2024 preliminary revenue budget of $30,603,760 (exclude interfund transfers) is comprised of 
charges for goods and services 36%, taxes 43%, intergovernmental revenues 7%, rents and leases 6%, 
anticipated debt proceeds 2%, licenses and permits 1%, and all other revenues 5%. 

Budget Summary - All Funds Combined
2024 Preliminary 

Budget 
Estimated Beginning Fund Balances 26,623,552$  
Revenues 30,603,760$  
Transfers in 4,130,868$  
Expenditures 34,481,201$  
Transfers Out 4,130,868$  
Estimated Ending Fund Balances 22,746,111$  

77



 
The proposed expenditure budget exceeds the revenues budget by $3,877,441. This is due to the 
proposed capital outlays budget which are primarily funded by each prospective fund’s reserves 
(beginning fund balance). The total expenditure budget (excluding interfund transfers), as presented in 
the 2024 Preliminary Budget is $34,481,201 and is comprised of the major purposes as follows:  
 

 
 
The General Fund, Utility funds, and Airport funds make up about 94% of the city’s 2024 Preliminary 
Budget. 2024 Budget summaries for each separate funds are provided in the Exhibit A of the Ordinance 
No. 1080-B. 
 

 

Expenditure Budget Summary - All Funds 
Combined (Excludes Interfund Transfers)

2024 Preliminary 
Budget* % of Total

Operating Purposes 24,226,607$                          70.3%
Debt Service Purposes 2,443,364$                             7.1%
Capital Purposes 7,811,230$                             22.7%
Total 34,481,201$                          100.0%

78



GENERAL FUND 
 
The General Fund is the primary operating fund used for basic municipal services. It accounts for all 
financial resources except those required or designated to be accounted for in another fund. The funding 
sources for the General Fund come from property tax, sales tax, utility tax, leasehold excise tax, fees for 
services, intergovernmental revenues and grant, and other miscellaneous revenues.   
 
2024 General Fund Revenue Budget 
 
The 2024 Preliminary Budget for the General Fund is balanced with use of $996,439 of the General Fund 
reserves (beginning fund balance). The 2024 projected revenue totals $12,918,625 which includes 
$104,970 transfers in from other city funds.   

 
 

Total revenues projected is $12,918,625, which is a $554,360 or 4.5% increase from the 2023 amended 
budget. Total tax revenue makes up about 84.7% or $10,946,600 of the General Fund revenues which 
support the governmental services.  
 

 
 

General Fund Budget Summary
2024 Preliminary 

Budget
Estimated Beginning Cash* 2,040,983$             
Revenues & Transfers In 12,918,625$           
Expenditures & Transfers Out 13,915,064$           
Net Revenues Over (under) Expenditures (996,439)$               
Estimated Ending Cash Balance 1,044,544$             
Ending Fund Balance % of Revenue Budget 8.1%

79



 
 
The sales tax is the largest revenue source for the City and makes up about 53.5% of the 2024 General 
Fund revenue budget. Sales tax has continued in an upward trend over the last few years. The average 
growth rate for the city’s sales tax from September to September from 2021 to 2023 is about 7.7%, which 
was boosted by significant increase from construction sector sales tax over the last 24 months period. The 
2024 Preliminary Budget sales revenue is projected at $6,913,100 which is 9.2% increase over the 2023 
amended budget. The projection assumes retail activity growth in 2024 will remain at the 2023 level 
anticipating decrease in construction sales tax but added new sales tax from local retail businesses that 
opened in 2023. Typically, sales tax revenues from construction activities are considered one-time in 
nature and are recommended to be excluded from future revenue projections unless other economic or 
financial data can support the continued growth. However, the 2024 Preliminary Budget sales tax 
projections includes the typical construction sales tax at about 6% of the total sales and use tax. Overall, 
a 6.0% increase over the 2022 total actual sales tax revenue is projected in 2024. 
 
Property tax is the second largest revenue source for the City and makes up abut 17.3% of the 2024 
General Fund revenues. Property tax revenue is projected at $2,229,100 in the 2024 preliminary budget, 
up by $46,613 or 2.1% from the 2023 amended budget. The 2024 tax revenue budget as submitted 
represents the total 2023 actual regular levy and actual EMS levy amounts of $2,185,033 plus 1% statutory 
maximum allowed increase without a vote of $24,332 plus an estimated tax increase from new 
construction for $19,700. The new construction tax was provided by the Lewis County Assessor’s Office 
on November 3, 2023, one day after the 2024 Preliminary Budget was submitted. The actual increase for 
new construction sales tax provided by the County Assessor is $40,621.08, and the tax revenue may be 
updated for the 2024 Final budget. 
 
Utility tax is the third largest revenue source for the City and makes up about 13.5% of the 2024 General 
Fund revenues. 
 
 

80



2024 General Fund Expenditure Budget 
 
The 2024 Preliminary Expenditures for the General Fund as submitted is $13,915,064 which includes 
transfers out of $1,434,088 to other funds. The 2024 Preliminary Budget is less than 0.1% or $5,771 
increase from the 2023 amended budget of $13,909,293. Non-routine transfers out to the general fund 
reserve funds decreased by $800,000 while all other expenditure and routine operating transfers out 
budget increase by $805,777 or about 6.1% from the 2023 amended budget.  
 
Municipal services are delivered primarily through people, which is the largest ongoing cost to the General 
Fund. Salaries and benefits make up almost 64% of the total General Fund expenditures. The 2024 
preliminary budget for salaries and benefits increased by $646,659 or 7.8% from the 2023 amended 
budget  Additional salaries and benefits of $563,275 (or 4.0% of the total General Fund expenditures) is 
budgeted in the Street Fund which is primarily funded through general fund revenues.  
 
The current collective bargaining agreements (CBAs) are for years 2023 through 2025. The cost-of-living 
adjustments (COLA) for 2024 per the CBAs range from 4.5% to 5.0% increase. The 2024 Preliminary Budget 
as summitted includes employer-paid health insurance premiums and welfare increases and the 
contractual COLA increases and anticipated step increases for all employees, including represented and 
non-represented employees.  
 
The 2024 Preliminary Budget 
includes filling five General Fund 
positions that are currently vacant 
and two additional 
firefighter/paramedic positions, 
anticipating the hire will occur in 
the beginning of 2024. 
 
The combined budgets of the Police 
and Fire Departments is $7,054,192 
which is about 51.0% of the 2024 
General Fund expenditures, which 
reflects the high priority of keeping 
residents and visitors in Chehalis 
safe. The facilities and parks 
maintenance receives the next 
single highest level of funding 
which is about 12% of the General 
Fund budget. About 8.0% of 
General Fund budget is allocated for city street maintenance which is included in the non-departmental 
budget as transfers out to the Street Fund. 
 
Estimated Ending Fund Balance 
 
The estimated ending fund balance, also referred to as operating reserve,  at the end of 2024 as submitted 
is $1,044,544, which is about 8.1% of the 2024 General Fund projected revenues. However, unanticipated 
revenues as well as savings from vacant positions in 2023 and 2024 will likely change the outcome. 
 

81



 
 
Maintaining operating reserves at 10% of the revenue budget is the policy goal of the City Council, and 
the projected ending fund balance at the end of 2024 does not meet the suggested reserve goals. In 
addition to the General Fund, the City maintains the following sub-funds of the General fund for specific 
purposes: Street Fund, Building Abatement Fund, Compensated Absences Reserve Fund, LEOFF 1 OPEB 
Trust Fund, and Automotive/Equipment Reserve Fund. The combined total ending fund balance at the 
end of 2024 is estimated at $1,883,977, which is about 14.5% of the 2024 revenue (excluding transfers in) 
budget. However, the fund balances in these funds are less than adequate when considering the ongoing 
need. 
 
Background on development of the 2024 Preliminary budget 
 
The process of preparing the budget documents begins in late July. At that time, each department 
prepared their respective draft budgets for 2024 to maintain the level of service provided in 2023 and 
propose additions to meet the ongoing requirements and expectations for service in the community.  
 
After the compilation of the requests, the Finance Director, Chun Saul, and I met with each department 
to review their 2024 proposed budget. Modifications to the initial draft budget requests were made and 
information was updated as more details became available.  Reductions in discretionary expenses were 
made when possible; however, the cost of insurance; supplies; fuel; and services are increasing 
significantly as the nation continues to deal with inflation.  The 2024 Preliminary Budget includes a Cost-
of-Living (COLA) increase for the City’s employee groups consistent with collective bargaining contracts, 
as well as non-represented employees.  
 
The Preliminary Draft Budget was then prepared and distributed to the City Council Budget Committee 
on October 2, 2023. The initial Preliminary Draft Budget for 2024 included expenditures that were $1.5 
million more than expected revenues After careful review of the budgets with each department, 
reductions in proposed expenditures, including the removal of a new position in Streets, use of 

82



automotive/equipment reserve funds for vehicle replacement budget requests were made to bring the 
revenue and expenditure gap to $996,439. While the budget can be balanced in 2024 with a use of reserve 
funds, using one-time money to fund ongoing expenditures always needs to be fully acknowledged as a 
temporary solution. The Budget Committee also considered revenue forecasts and expressed concern 
regarding the City’s ability to sustain the current level of service past 2024 in consideration of the 
projected revenues and continuing increases in the cost of doing business. 
 
Considering the significance of the situation, the City Council Budget Committee recommended that the 
entire City Council be provided with an overview of the 2024 Preliminary Draft Budget at a Special City 
Council Meeting, which occurred on October 26, 2023. At the special City Council meeting on October 
26th, the City Council was provided an overview of the 2024 Draft Preliminary Budget with a focus on the 
General Fund. The current service levels were reviewed and summary of what was in the budget and what 
had been removed. The City Council had an opportunity to review the revenue forecasts that demonstrate 
the difficulty of sustaining the proposed level of service past 2024. At the City Council meeting, members 
of the City Council Budget Committee communicated that they were reluctant to make any more cuts to 
the budget because the impact on service levels and recommended that the City Council look at increasing 
fees for services provided to direct users to help offset the cost of inflation and consider an increase to 
the municipal utility tax, which is a tax on the gross income of utility business, not the individual customer. 
Based on the consensus of the City Council at the special meeting on October 26th, a proposal to increase 
the municipal utility tax will be presented to the City Council in late 2023. Revenue associated with 
potential increases in utility taxes or fees are not included in the 2024 Preliminary Budget as presented. 
 
Proposed adoption of budget 
 
The 2024 Preliminary Budget document can be found on the City’s website at www.ci.chehalis.wa.us. 
For the convenience of the reader, the Budget Message that accompanies the 2024 Preliminary Budget, 
dated November 2, 2023, is attached to this agenda report.  The Budget Message provides introductory 
comments regarding the City’s current fiscal condition and a brief summary of each fund.  Staff will also 
be available at the City Council meeting to address any questions from the Council and the public hearing 
regarding the 2024 Preliminary Budget.  Additional changes may be made to the ordinance prior to its 
second reading to reflect new information and/or direction from the City Council. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the City Council open the public hearing, accept public comment, close the public 
hearing, and consider this information when taking an action on these items, which are scheduled on this 
meeting agenda under “New Business” with agenda reports that provide additional information on the 
Budget and the related ordinances.  
 
SUGGESTED MOTION 
 
There is no motion needed after the close of the public hearing. 
 

83

http://www.ci.chehalis.wa.us/


84



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO: The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY: Adam Fulbright, Fire Chief 

MEETING OF: November 13, 2023 

SUBJECT:   Second and Final Reading of Ordinance No. 1071-B, Establishing Guidelines 
for Cost Recovery of Fire Department Services. 

INTRODUCTION 

The first reading of Ordinance No. 1071-B was discussed at the October 23, 2023, City Council 
meeting. It is being presented for second and final reading at this time.  Since the first reading, 
several items have been added to the fee schedule to more completely account for the range of 
care provided by the City’s Fire Department.   

ISSUE 

State legislation provides the City Council with the authority to establish a program that would 
enable Chehalis Fire Department to recover costs associated with emergency response by 
billing responsible third parties, primarily insurance companies.   

EMERGENCY SERVICE COST RECOVERY 

For decades the Fire Department has responded to many incidents that have been caused by 
third parties that are residents and non-residents of the City of Chehalis.  The City has provided 
these services at zero cost to the third parties that caused the incident without seeking 
recovery for these costs. These services include the provisions of suppression, motor vehicle 
accidents, hazardous material, and technical rescue services. 

For years the City has absorbed these costs because legislation did not provide a means to 
recover the cost and third-party caused incidents were relatively low. As third-party incidents 
have increased substantially, staff is recommending adoption of a cost recovery program within 
the Chehalis Municipal Code. The proposed ordinance is presented for first reading to establish 
a method for recovering costs and expenses for certain services provided by the City’s Fire 
Department. 

THIRD PARTIES 

The definition of a third party is: 

85



 
“Any individual, firm, corporation, association, partnership, commercial entity, consortium, 
joint venture, government entity, or other legal entity that (1) receives Emergency Services or 
whose employee or agent receives Emergency Services;(2) is contractually required to 
indemnify a person or legal entity for charges related to Emergency Services, such as an 
insurance company; (3) any owner, tenant occupant or party in control of real and personal 
property from which, onto which, or related to which there is an Emergency Incident and their 
heirs, estates, successors and assigns and (4) any owner, tenant occupant or party in control of 
real and personal property that benefits from Emergency Services and their heirs, estates, 
successors and assigns.”  
 
COST RECOVERY CHARGES 
 
If the proposed ordinance is approved, the City may be able to recover all assessable costs in 
connection with emergency services rendered by the City from any or all responsible parties 
jointly or severally. Emergency Services include, the following responses or conditions, but not 
limited to: 
  

• Any Department response to a fire, whether ignited accidentally or intentionally, and  
        includes but is not necessarily limited to the following: 

 
A. Department containment and/or suppression of the fire in part or whole 

            Stabilization of the incident by Department resources 
 

B. Activities resulting in damage or destruction of Department equipment 
beyond normal wear and tear. 
 

C. Any Department response to an incident caused by a criminal act including 
but not limited to, DUI, intentional false alarm, or arson. 
 

D. Any Department response requiring containment, abatements, or any safety 
measure in connection with any hazardous or toxic material release. Charges 
in such case shall be made to the person responsible for the release, whether 
the release occurs on the property of the responsible party. The 
responsibility for the release includes releases caused by the person as well 
as any release from any vehicle, building, or other instrumentality, owned, 
occupied, or utilized by the person, regardless of fault. 
 

E. Any Department response to a vehicle accident or traffic incident, including 
but not limited to the control of fires, spills, debris clean up, assistance to 
injured persons or ambulance crews, or the extrication of vehicle occupants 
using specialized tools or techniques. 
 

F. Any Department response for a Hazardous Materials Incident or other 
hazardous condition requiring Department oversight and deployment of 
personnel and/or equipment to maintain public health and safety. 
 

86



G. Any Department response to a false alarm due to system malfunction or 
maintenance issue in excess of three (3) alarms in any consecutive twelve 
(12) month period. 
 

H. The provision of Department equipment or personnel for the purpose of 
providing standby fire, rescue, or emergency medical services necessary to 
support a non- emergency event/situation hosted by a for-profit 
organization. The Fire Chief and/or City Manager may reduce or waive any 
charges for such services. 
 

I. The provision of medical care and/or transport by the Department to a 
medical care facility. 
 

J. Any Department response for a specialized rescue, disentanglement, or body 
recovery requiring Department oversight and/or deployment of Department 
personnel or equipment and the use of specialized tools, apparatus, or 
techniques for handling the specific incident. This includes high and low 
angle environments, confined spaces, below grade or trench incidents, heavy 
equipment or machinery, outside searches lasting longer than one (1) hour, 
ice or water rescue or recovery, and structural collapse. 

 
A schedule of charges, to be known as the Cost Recovery Schedule, is included in the proposed 
Ordinance.  
 
EXEMPTIONS 
 
The following properties and services are exempt from charges authorized by the ordinance. 
 
• False alarms due to system malfunctions or maintenance issues not exceeding three  
     (3) alarms in any consecutive twelve (12) month period. 

 

• Fire involving City buildings, grounds and/or property when the fire is not caused by  
      the act or omission of an employee or agent of the City. 

 

• Fire or other emergency service performed outside the jurisdiction of the City for which a 
signed Mutual or Automatic Aid Agreement is in place, unless the municipality in which 
assistance is rendered has adopted an ordinance to impose or authorize the collection of 
fees for fire and emergency services as authorized by law.  

 
PROPOSED COST RECOVERY RATE SCHEDULE 

Preparedness fee         $250.00 

• 20-minute response minimum (round up to one hour for cleaning and restocking) 

• Hourly rates represent full-time employee cost of compensation / additional 
consideration given to call back of personnel to back fill on overtime rates. 

Full Time personnel: Hourly rate charge in 30-minute blocks 

87



Fire Chief           $68.00 

Captain            $44.00 

Firefighter/Paramedic          $40.00 

Firefighter/Engineer/EMT        $37.00 

Call personnel: 

Company Officer          $67.00 

Firefighter/Paramedic          $60.00 

Firefighter/ Driver / EMT        $55.00 

Reserve Firefighter         $10.00 

 

Apparatus: 

Command Vehicles: 

Chief             $50.00 

EMS Units: 

A-48 BLS            $233.00 

A-48 ALS            $308.00 

Platform Aerial: 

Ladder 48            $485.00 

Structural Engine: 

Engine 48-1, 48-2, 48-3, or comparable unit    $310.00 

Brush Engine: 

Brush 48            $189.00 

Jaws of Life            $50.00 

 

Consumables 

K-12 Cutting Disk           $10.00  

Plug-N-Dike            $10.00  

Gloves              $3.00  

Amerizorb T&G            $18.00  

88



Road Flares             $4.00  

Firefighting Foam           $92.00  

FM 186-2             $15.00  

Lewis County Dispatch Charge         $50.00  

Absorbent pads/tubes         $15.00 

Other Items (per unit)         $actual cost +10% 

 

BILLING AND COLLECTION OF ASSESSABLE COST 
 

If the City Council adopts the proposed ordinance, it is recommended the City Council authorize 
the City Manager to enter into an agreement with EF Recovery to administer the process 
needed to bill insurance companies and document services related to emergency response. 
 
EF Recovery will prepare and mail an itemized invoice to an appropriate insurance company or 
authorized agent acting on behalf of a responsible party or an insurer of a responsible party.  
 
As indicated on Page 9 of the agreement Billing options will be set as follows.  
 

1. Residents of Chehalis: Bill insurance company, if not paid, close claim. 
2. Non-Resident: Bill insurance company, if not paid, close claim. 

 
 
APPEAL PROCEDURE 
 
Non-resident responsible parties who receive an invoice for assessable cost shall have an 
opportunity to meet with the City Fire Chief or designee to request a modification of the 
assessable cost. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Cost recovery agreement discuss fees on page 10 Exhibit B. However, the actual fiscal impact on 
the city will be none for the following reasons: 
 

1. Processing Cost: Ef recovery has the authority to submit on their own behalf the 
processing fees at $50.00 or 22% of the total claim to the Insurance company. 
Therefore, they will not need to bill the City of Chehalis for processing fees. 
 

2. Uncollected Claim Cost: Ef Recovery agreed to waive this fee. 
 

 
3. Training Fee: One time Charge of $295.00 is taken out of the first claim submitted 

by Chehalis Fire.  
 

89



 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the City Council approve Ordinance No. 1071-B on second and final 
reading, establishing a cost recovery program and setting a fee schedule.  

 
SUGGESTED MOTION 
 
I move that the City Council: approve Ordinance No. 1071-B on second and final reading, 
establishing a cost recovery program and setting a fee schedule.  
 
 

90



    ORDINANCE 1071-B 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON ESTABLISHING A NEW 
SECTION OF THE CHEHALIS MUNICIPAL CODE, 2.30.055, IMPLEMENTING A 

PROGRAM TO CHARGE MITIGATION RATES FOR THE DEPLOYMENT OF 
EMERGENCY AND NON-EMERGENCY SERVICES BY THE FIRE DEPARTMENT  

 

WHEREAS, the emergency and non-emergency services response activity to incidents continues 

to increase each year in the form of Environmental Protection requirements involving equipment 

and training, and Homeland Security regulations involving equipment and training, all which 

create additional demands on all operational aspects of the fire department services; and 

 

WHEREAS, the fire department has investigated different methods to maintain a high level of 

quality of emergency and non-emergency service capability throughout times of constantly 

increasing service demands, where maintaining an effective response by the fire department 

decreases the costs of incidents to insurance carriers, businesses, and individuals through timely 

and effective management of emergency situations, saving lives and reducing property and 

environmental damages; and 

 

WHEREAS, raising real property tax to meet the increase in service demands would not be fair 

when the costs are more properly bourn by the uses and their insurers; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Chehalis desires to implement a fair and equitable procedure by 

which to collect said mitigation rates and shall establish a billing system in accordance with 

applicable laws, regulations and guidelines; 

 

 

 

91



NOW THEREFORE THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, 
WASHINGTON, DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 

Section 1: A new section of the Chehalis Municipal Code (“CMC”), Section 2.30.055 is hereby 

created.  

 

Section 2: CMC 2.30.055 shall be captioned “Mitigation Rates Charged to End Users”. 

 

Section 3: CMC 2.30.055 shall read as follows: 

A. End-users may be charged mitigation rates for the delivery of emergency and non-

emergency services by the Chehalis Fire Department. “Services” for the purposes of this 

section shall include the actual rendering of service and any request whether or not services 

are actually required.  

B. The mitigation rates shall be based on actual costs of the services and that which is usual, 

customary, and reasonable (URC), which may include any services, personnel, supplies, 

equipment, and baselines costs established from time to time and as ratified by the City 

Council by resolution. In the event that at leat one calendar year passes without any update 

to rates, the rates will be automatically increased by three percent (3%) over the prior year’s 

rate, effective January 1.   

C. The most current mitigation rates shall be available for inspection during regular business 

hours at the main office of the Chehalis Fire Department. The rates shall be deemed 

available if they are available either in-person or if posted on the website for the City of 

Chehalis.  

D. Where reasonable, the Chehalis Fire Department will work with the end-user to bill an 

appropriate insurance carrier or third-party payor. 

E. Billing under this section may be by the Chehalis Fire Department, another City 

department, or by a third-party, as selected by the Chief of the Chehalis Fire Department 

or designee.  

92



F. Any end-user may request an appeal of any billing under this section to the Chief of the 

Chehalis Fire Department or designee.  

G. The Chief of the Chehalis Fire Department or designee shall have broad discretion to waive 

billing under this section in the interest of fairness after reasonable consideration of the 

individual’s ability to pay and/or other factors deemed relevant after assessing the totality 

of the circumstances.  

Section 4: Exhibit A hereto shall constitute the initial rates contemplated by this Ordinance, 

and shall be made available at the Chehalis Fire Department and/or on the City’s website.   

 

Section 5: This Ordinance shall take effect five (5) days from the date of adoption and publication, 

or as permitted otherwise by law. 

 

PASSED this ___ day of October 2023 

 

______________________________ 

Tony Ketchum, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

___________________________ 

Kassie Mackie, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND CONTENT: 

____________________________ 

Kevin T. Nelson, City Attorney 

 

 

 

 

 

93



 

EXHIBIT A 

MITIGATION RATES 

BASED ON PER HOUR 

 

The mitigation rates below are average “cost recovery/billing levels”, and are typical for the 
incident responses listed, however, when claim is submitted, it will be itemized and based on the 

actual services provided. 

 

COST RECOVERY RATE SCHEDULE 

Preparedness fee 

$250.00, 20-minute response minimum (round up to one hour for cleaning and restocking) 

Hourly rates represent full-time employee cost of compensation / additional consideration 
given to call back of personnel to back fill on overtime rates. 

 

Full Time personnel: Hourly rate charge in 30-minute blocks 

Fire Chief         $68.00 

Captain         $44.00 

Firefighter/Paramedic        $40.00 

Firefighter/Engineer/EMT       $37.00 

Call personnel: 

Company Officer        $67.00 

Firefighter/ Paramedic       $60.00 

Firefighter/Engineer/EMT       $55.00 

Reserve Firefighter        $10.00 

Apparatus: 

Command Vehicles: 

Chief           $50.00 

 

94



EMS Units: 

A-48 BLS         $233.00 

A-48 ALS         $308.00 

Aerial Ladder: 

Ladder 48 or comparable unit      $485.00 

Structural Engine: 

Engine 48-1, 48-2, 48-3, or comparable unit     $310.00 

Brush Engine: 

Brush-48         $189.00 

Jaws of Life          $50.00 

Consumables: 

K-12 Cutting Disk         $10.00  

Plug-N-Dike         $10.00  

Gloves           $3.00  

Amerizorb T&G         $18.00  

Road Flares          $4.00  

Firefighting Foam         $92.00  

FM 186-2          $15.00  

Lewis County Dispatch Charge       $50.00  

Absorbent pads/tubes       $15.00 

Other items (per unit)        Actual Cost + 10% 

 

 

95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107

afulbright
Line

afulbright
Line



108



109



110



111



112



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO:  The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM:  Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY:  Lance Bunker, Public Works Director/ Celest Wilder Engineering Technician III 

MEETING OF: November 13, 2023  

SUBJECT: Second and Final Reading of Ordinance No. 1076-B, Right-of-way Dedication for NW 
Arkansas Way, West of the Northern Arkansas/Louisiana Round-a-bout. 

INTRODUCTION 

The first reading of Ordinance No. 1076-B, Right-of-way Dedication for NW Arkansas Way, was approved 
on first reading at the October 23, 2023, City Council meeting. It is scheduled for the second and final 
reading at this time. 

ISSUE 

A portion of Arkansas Way is currently undeveloped.  For master-planned development to continue in the 
Airport Commercial development area, completing the Arkansas Way loop to connect the southern and 
northern legs of NW Arkansas Way is paramount. 

A portion of the northern leg of NW Arkansas Way, west of the round-a-bout at NW Louisiana (Across 
from I-5 Toyota and Interstate Honda) is undersized for the purpose of creating a code compliant, 
commercial access roadway. 

DISCUSSION 

The City of Chehalis owns the 56.05-acre site to the north of the undersized right-of-way. A survey of the 
area necessary to create adequate right-of-way for development was conducted and certified by a 
licensed surveyor September 27, 2023. 

Dedicating this 24,205 square foot area of land currently a part of parcel number 021612001002, as NW 
Arkansas Way right-of-way, will provide for the opportunity to complete development of the NW Arkansas 
Way loop. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

A decrease in 0.56 acres of undeveloped real estate will have an indirect fiscal impact due to decreased 
land-owner acreage for the city. 

Direct fiscal impact will come in the form of filing and recording fees of approximately $500.00 

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that the City Council adopt Ordinance No. 1076-B on second reading. 

113



 
SUGGESTED MOTION 
 
I move that the City Council adopt Ordinance No. 1076-B on second reading.  
 
 

114



ORDINANCE NO. 1076-B 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON, 
PROVIDING FOR THE DEDICATIO NOF A PROTION OF  

PARCEL NUMBER 021612001002. 

Whereas, the City of Chehalis is the owner of real property located at 3110 Airport Road, 
Chehalis, Washington. A 56.05-acre parcel of undeveloped land, recorded under tax parcel number 
021612001002. 

Whereas, the southern property line, running east to west at a bearing of N89o42’02”W  for a 
distance of 694.48 linear feet lies adjacent to undeveloped right-of-way slated for future improvement as 
the NW Arkansas Way, loop. 

Whereas, the undeveloped NW Arkansas Way right-of-way is currently under-sized at 42.6 feet 
wide for a distance of 694.48 linear feet. 

Whereas, a 24,205 square foot portion of tax parcel number 021612001002, owned by the City 
of Chehalis, has been surveyed for dedication as right-of-way for the purpose of creating a 78 foot wide 
right-of way intended future road development. 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON, DO ORDAIN AS 
FOLLOWS: 

Section1: 

The legal descriptions of parcel number 02162001002 from which the land is dedicated found in 
Exhibit A and for the portion of right or way being dedicated is descried in Exhibit B with certified 
drawings as Exhibit C and summarizes as follows: 

• A portion of land, formerly part of parcel number 021612001002, west of Louisiana Avenue
containing an area of 24,205 square feet or 0.65 acres shall be, and the same hereby is,
dedicated.

Section 2. 

This ordinance shall become effective only upon the date that Exhibit A, Exhibit B, and Exhibit C 
have been recorded with the Lewis County Auditor. 

PASSED by the City Council of the City of Chehalis, Washington, and APPROVED by its 
mayor this _____ day of _____, 2023 

____________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

115



 

______________________________ 
 City Clerk 
Approved as to Form and Content: 
 
 
____________________________ 
 City Attorney 

116



117



118



119



120



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO: The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY: Chun Saul, Finance Director  

Meeting Date: November 13, 2023 

SUBJECT: Ordinance 1078-B, Authorizing Establishment of a Fund Named LEOFF 1 OPEB 
Trust Fund – Second and Final Reading 

INTRODUCTION 

Ordinance 1078-B, was discussed at the October 23, 2023, City Council meeting and was 
approved on first reading. It is scheduled for second and final reading at this time. 

ISSUE 

The Firemen’s Pension Fund was set up to take care of pensions for firefighters that were hired 
before the Law Enforcement Officers’ and Firefighters’ Retirement System Plan 1 (LEOFF 1) was 
started on March 1, 1970.  The obligations of the fund are to pay for the excess pension benefits 
of eligible retirees and/or survivors. As those obligations are nearing the end, it is proposed that 
the City Council approve an ordinance that would create a restricted fund for the purpose of 
paying the retiree medical benefits of eligible LEOFF 1 Firefighters and Police Officers that remain 
the responsibility of the City.  These are not new benefits and only apply to Firefighters and Police 
Officers that are Pre LEOFF or  LEOFF 1 Retirees. Current personnel are under the LEOFF 2 Retiree 
System. 

DISCUSSION 

Per the request of the city’s Firemen’s Pension Board, research into what actions the city can 
take to ensure that the excess funds in the city’s Firemen’s Pension Fund (FPF) and the funds in 
the LEOFF 1 Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB) Reserve Fund will only be used to pay for 
LEOFF 1 retiree medical benefits until there are no beneficiaries remaining to receive the medical 
benefits under LEOFF 1 system.   

Pursuant to RCW 41.26.040, the Firemen’s Pension Fund must pay the excess pension benefits 
for firefighters who were active on March 1, 1970, and later retired from the LEOFF 1 system. 
These members are entitled to pension benefits under either the FPF formular or the LEOFF 
formula, whichever is greater. The City currently has one retired firefighter and one eligible 
widow that receive this benefit. The city pays about $4,000 - $7,000 per year to cover these 
excess benefits.  

121



 
As of 12/31/2022, the FMP had $1,057,722 in the fund. In 2019, the city conducted an actuarial 
study and determined that the FPF had sufficient funds to pay all future excess pension benefits 
and can remain sustainable without any additional pension levy. 
 
Additionally, the excess funds can (permitted but not mandatory) be used to pay for medical 
benefits for firefighters that have retired from or are currently active on the LEOFF 1 system. This 
is found in RCW 41.26.150. The city currently has six LEOFF 1 firefighter retirees who are eligible 
to receive these medical benefits. The 2019 actuarial study provided that the city can use the 
excess funds up to $78,000 per year over the next ten years to pay for the LEOFF 1 firefighter 
retiree’s medical benefits. The city paid for firefighter retiree medical benefits out from the FMP 
over the years but starting in 2020 the LEOFF 1 firefighter retiree medical benefits are paid by 
the LEOFF 1 OPEB Reserve Fund. 
 
In July 2019, SB 5894 was passed authorizing cities and towns to continue imposing the pension 
levy to fund medical benefits under LEOFF 1 (both law enforcement officers and firefighters) and 
other municipal purposes until the municipality no longer has any LEOFF 1 retirees receiving 
medical benefits. The proceeds of the pension levy must first be expended for payment of 
medical benefits under LEOFF 1 prior to being used for any other municipal purposes. 
 
In 2020, the city created a LEOFF 1 OPEB Reserve Fund and began placing the pension levy into 
the LEOFF 1 OPEB Reserve Fund to pay for the medical benefits for all LEOFF 1 retirees and to 
build reserves for LEOFF1 OPEB liability.  The city currently has eleven (11) total LEOFF 1 retirees: 
six (6) firefighters and five (5) police officers. Total estimated OPEB liabilities for those eleven 
members is about $5.1 million ($2.8 million for firefighters and $2.3 million for police officers). 
This OPEB liability was calculated using the state actuary’s interactive tool which used the 
healthcare trend rates detailed in the 2020 LEOFF 1 OPEB AVR and medical and long-term care 
costs projections from 6/30 2020 to 6/30/2022.  The $5.2 million is just a rough estimate for the 
purpose of this report and it can change significantly for the 2023 reporting year depending on 
the new actuarial data and assumptions being used by the state actuary.  
 
Currently, the LEOFF 1 OPEB Reserve Fund is reported as a sub-fund of the General Fund and is 
rolled to the General Fund for financial statement reporting purposes, with the entire fund 
balance reported as “committed” per the City Council fund balance designation ordinance.   
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
It is proposed that the City Council approve an Ordinance to establish a restrictive fund by 
renaming the existing LEOFF 1 OPEB Reserve Fund to LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund and restrict 
designated funding sources and uses   for LEOFF 1 firefighter and police retirees’ medical benefits. 
The proposed funding sources and use restrictions are summarized below.  
 
Funding Source: 
 

• The city pursuant to SB 5894 continues imposing the pension levy of 22.5 cents per $1,000 
assessed valuation and places those funds in the LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund, unless a report 

122



by a qualified actuary establishes that all or any part of the pension levy is unnecessary to 
meet the estimated demands on the fund for the ensuing budget year.  

• Interest on the investments of the funds 
• Transfer of the excess funds (if any) from the city’s Firemen’s Pension Fund at the time 

there are no LEOFF 1 firefighter retirees and/or eligible survivors who are receiving the 
excess pension benefits. 

• Any other funds designated by the City Council. 
 
Use Restrictions: 
 

• Must be used exclusively to pay benefits to the LEOFF 1 members (both police and fire), 
pursuant to RCW 41.26 and SB 5894, until such time as there are no retirees eligible to 
receive benefits from the LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund. 

• Costs directly related to actuarial analysis and administrative functions of the LEOFF 1 
OPEB Trust Fund can be charged to the LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund. 

• Only at the time there are no beneficiaries remaining, the remaining funds can be 
transferred to the General Fund of the city for other municipal purposes. 

 
The state auditor’s office confirmed that by establishing the LEOFF 1 OPEB fund by an ordinance 
with the funding and use restrictions mentioned above, the funds in the LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund 
can be reported as a “restricted” fund balance of the General Fund for the financial statement 
reporting purposes. However, the LEOFF 1 OPEB Fund will still be rolled to the General Fund for 
financial statement reporting purposes.  
 
An Ordinance to establish a fund named LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund which has been reviewed by 
the City Attorney, Kevin Nelson. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
The creation of the fund has no fiscal impact.    
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the City Council approve Ordinance No. 1078-B on second and final 
reading, authorizing the establishment of a LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust .  
 
SUGGESTED MOTION  
 
I move that the City Council approve Ordinance No. 1078-B on second and final reading, 
authorizing the establishment of a LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund.  
 
 
 
 

123



124



ORDINANCE NO.  1078-B 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON, ESTABLISHING A NEW FUND, 
THE LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS’ & FIREFIGHTERS’ PLAN 1 (LEOFF 1) OTHER POST-
EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) TRUST FUND  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Chehalis has retirees of the Law Enforcement Officers’ and 
Firefighters’ Retirement System Plan 1, and  
 
WHEREAS, the city, pursuant to RCW 41.26, provides necessary medical services and long-
term care coverage for LEOFF 1 retirees, as approved by the local LEOFF 1 Board, and 
 
WHEREAS, the city has a Firemen’s Pension Fund to pay the pension benefits for those 
eligible retirees and their spouse pursuant to RCW 41.16.050 and RCW 41.26.040, and 
 
WHEREAS, the city’s Firemen’s Pension Fund, pursuant to RCW 41.26.150, may be used to 
pay for medical services and long-term care benefits for retired LEOFF 1 firefighters if the 
fund’s assets exceed all future pension benefits, and 
 
WHEREAS, the 2019 actuarial study on the city’s Firemen’s Pension reported that the city’s 
Firemen’s Pension Fund has sufficient assets to pay all future excess pension benefits 
without additional pension levy, and that a portion of the excess can be used to pay the 
medical and long-term care benefits for LEOFF 1 firefighters, and  
 
WHEREAS, the SSB 5894 authorizes cities and towns to continue imposing the pension levy 
to fund medical benefits for LEOFF 1 firefighters and law enforcement officers and other 
municipal purposes until the municipality no longer has any LEOFF 1 retirees receiving 
medical benefits, and that the proceeds of the pension levy must first be expended for 
payment of medical benefits under LEOFF 1, prior to being used for any other municipal 
purpose, and 
 
WHEREAS, the actuarial liability for LEOFF 1 OPEB exceeds the resources available in the 
Firemen’s Pension Fund for the LEOFF 1 firefighter retirees, and 
 
WHEREAS, in 2020 the city added a LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund to its budget and began to 
place the pension levy to provide funds for LEOFF 1 OPEB liability, and 
 
WHEREAS, the city would like to establish a fund by renaming the LEOFF 1 OPEB Reserve 
Fund to LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund and to continue funding for the LEOFF 1 OPEB liability   

 
NOW, THERFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON, DOES 

HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. There is established a city fund known as LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund 115. The 

LOEFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund shall be used for the purpose of accounting for all monies received and 
expended for current LEOFF 1 retiree’s necessary medical services and long-term care coverage. 

125



 
Section 2. The sources of revenue for the fund  shall consist of 1) 22.5 cents per $1,000 

assessed valuation pension levy, pursuant to SSB 5894, unless a report by a qualified actuary 
establishes that all or any part of the pension levy is unnecessary to meet the estimated demands 
of? the fund for the ensuing budget year; 2) transfer of the excess funds, if any, from the city’s 
Firemen’s Pension Fund when the city no longer has any LEOFF 1 firefighters receiving the excess 
pension and medical and long-term care benefits; 3) interest on the investments of the fund; 4) 
any other funds as designated by the city council. 

 
Section 3. The LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund shall be used exclusively to pay benefits to the 

LEOFF 1 members, pursuant to RCW 41.26 and SSB 5894, until such time as there are no retirees 
legally eligible to receive benefits from the LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund. In addition to the benefit 
payments, costs directly related to actuarial analysis and administrative functions of the LEOFF 1 
OPEB Trust Fund should be charged to the LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund. 

 
Section 4. At the time there are no retirees legally eligible to receive benefits from the 

LEOFF 1 OPEB Trust Fund, any remaining funds shall be transferred to the General Fund of the 
city for other municipal purposes. 

 
Section 5. That any previously enacted ordinance, or part thereof in conflict herewith be 

and the same hereby is repealed to the extent of such conflict. 
 
Section 6. The effective date of this Ordinance shall be five days after its passage of and 

publications as required by law.   
 
PASSED by the City Council of the City of Chehalis, Washington, APPROVED on its first 

reading on the _____ day of _________________, 2023 and the second and final reading on the 
_____ day of __________________, 2023. 

 
        ______________________________ 

Mayor 
Attest: 
 
______________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to form and content: 
 
______________________________ 
 City Attorney 

126



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO:  The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM:  Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY:  Chun Saul, Finance Director 

MEETING OF: November 13, 2023 

SUBJECT:  Ordinance 1080-B, First Reading – Adopting the 2024 Budget 

ISSUE 

Adoption of the 2024 Budget requires two public hearings and the adoption of an implementing City 
Ordinance.  Ordinance No. 1080-B has been prepared for consideration by the City Council on first of two 
required readings. 

DISCUSSION 

The 2024 Preliminary Budget, which includes a summary of anticipated revenues and expenditures, is 
available for public review at City Hall, the Finance Department, and on the City’s website at 
www.ci.chehalis.wa.us.  

The City Budget is made up of 26 separate funds that are used to account for the revenues and 
expenditures associated with the provision of services in the community. The General Fund provides the 
primary governmental functions. Other than the General Fund, all other funds are restricted for specific 
purposes by law or policy.  The 26 funds do not include agency funds which are used to account for assets 
that are held for other agencies, including the State of WA. Only the General Fund can be used for general 
governmental services that include police, fire, parks and recreation, street maintenance, planning and 
zoning, building code enforcement, municipal court, and general administration services. As a result, it is 
important to note that while multiple funds make up the complete City budget, there are limitations on 
how the individual funds can be used.   

The 2024 Preliminary Budget for all funds, as presented in Ordinance 1080-B is summarized as follows: 

Budget Summary - All Funds Combined
2024 Preliminary 

Budget 
Estimated Beginning Fund Balances 26,623,552$  
Revenues 30,603,760$  
Transfers in 4,130,868$  
Expenditures 34,481,201$  
Transfers Out 4,130,868$  
Estimated Ending Fund Balances 22,746,111$  

127

http://www.ci.chehalis.wa.us/


A summary for the 2024 Preliminary Budget, including beginning fund balances, revenues, transfers-in, 
expenditures, transfers-out, and estimated fund balances for all city funds is attached to the Ordinance 
No. 1080-B as Exhibit A.  
 
As noted above, additional detail on the 2024 Preliminary Budget can be found in the agenda packet for 
this City Council meeting and online at the City’s website: www.ci.chehalis.wa.us.   
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

It is recommended that the City Council pass Ordinance 1080-B on first reading. 
 
SUGGESTED MOTION 
 

I move that the City Council pass Ordinance 1080-B on first reading. 
 

128

http://www.ci.chehalis.wa.us/


ORDINANCE NO. 1080-B 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON, 
ADOPTING THE BUDGET OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS FOR THE 
YEAR 2024 AND PROVIDING FOR THE EFFECTIVE DATE 
HEREOF. 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON, DO ORDAIN AS 

FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1.  Attached hereto and identified as Exhibit “A,” in summary form, are the total of 

estimated revenues and appropriations for each separate fund and the aggregate totals for all such funds 
combined for the budget of the City for 2024, and by this reference said Exhibit “A,” showing a total 
estimated ending fund balance of $22,746,111 is incorporated herein as if set forth in full and the same is 
hereby adopted in full.  
 

Section 2.  This ordinance is a legislative act delegated by statute to the City Council of the City 
of Chehalis, is not subject to referendum and shall take effect the _____ day of 
____________________, 2023. 

 
PASSED by the City Council of the City of Chehalis, Washington, and APPROVED by its 

Mayor, at a regularly scheduled open public meeting thereof this _____ day of __________, 2023. 
 
 

 ______________________________ 
   Mayor 
 
 

Attest: 
 
 
______________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to form and content: 
 
 
______________________________ 
City Attorney 
 
 

129



Fund 
No. Fund Name

Estimated 
Beginning 

Fund Balance 
01/01/2024 Revenues Transfers In

TOTAL 
REVENUE 
SOURCE Expenditures Transfers Out

TOTAL 
EXPENDITURE

Estimated 
Ending Fund 

Balance 
12/31/2023

Change in 
Fund Balance 

Increase 
(Decrease) % Change

001 General Fund 2,040,983$      12,813,655$    104,970$         12,918,625$    12,480,976$    1,434,088$      13,915,064$    1,044,544$      (996,439)$        -48.8%

003 Street Fund 229,317           161,848           1,113,700        1,275,548        1,476,607        -                      1,476,607        28,258             (201,059)          -87.7%

004 Building Abatement Fund 52,449             1,200               -                      1,200               -                      -                      -                      53,649             1,200               2.3%

103 Transportation Benefit District Fund 3,339,275        1,637,800        -                      1,637,800        1,421,988        -                      1,421,988        3,555,087        215,812           6.5%

107 Tourism Fund 178,616           334,700           -                      334,700           206,200           168,520           374,720           138,596           (40,020)            -22.4%

110 Compensated Absences Reserve Fund 132,792           5,300               -                      5,300               24,300             -                      24,300             113,792           (19,000)            -14.3%

115 LEOFF 1 OPEB Reserve Fund 235,652           3,900               275,988           279,888           142,475           -                      142,475           373,065           137,413           58.3%

195 Community Development Block Grant Fund 198                  -                      -                      -                      150                  -                      150                  48                    (150)                -75.8%

197 HUD Block Grant Fund 469                  -                      -                      -                      400                  -                      400                  69                    (400)                -85.3%

199 Federal Grant Control Fund 31,353             49,100             -                      49,100             -                      -                      -                      80,453             49,100             156.6%

200 General Obligation Bond Fund 63                    -                      298,310           298,310           298,305           -                      298,305           68                    5                      7.9%

301 Public Facilities Reserve Fund 773,160           16,200             -                      16,200             40,000             -                      40,000             749,360           (23,800)            -3.1%

302 Automotive/Equipment Reserve Fund 791,469           19,700             -                      19,700             540,500           -                      540,500           270,669           (520,800)          -65.8%

303 Parks Improvement Fund 224,601           24,500             44,400             68,900             40,000             -                      40,000             253,501           28,900             12.9%

305 First Quarter REET Fund 327,586           150,000           -                      150,000           -                      130,000           130,000           347,586           20,000             6.1%

306 Second Quarter REET Fund 461,545           156,100           -                      156,100           -                      96,490             96,490             521,155           59,610             12.9%

402 Garbage Fund 8,270               -                      -                      -                      -                      8,270               8,270               -                      (8,270)              -100.0%

404 Wastewater Fund 3,599,226        6,046,950        -                      6,046,950        6,363,158        358,100           6,721,258        2,924,918        (674,308)          -18.7%

405 Water Fund 1,415,815        3,531,000        -                      3,531,000        3,463,422        444,900           3,908,322        1,038,493        (377,322)          -26.7%

406 Storm and Surface Water Fund 289,292           742,000           -                      742,000           643,449           227,000           870,449           160,843           (128,449)          -44.4%

407 Airport Fund 1,014,272        2,246,150        -                      2,246,150        1,553,511        1,263,500        2,817,011        443,411           (570,861)          -56.3%

414 Wastewater Capital Fund 1,429,398        176,977           358,100           535,077           1,042,600        -                      1,042,600        921,875           (507,523)          -35.5%

415 Water Capital Fund 5,772,086        2,375,380        444,900           2,820,280        3,420,000        -                      3,420,000        5,172,366        (599,720)          -10.4%

416 Storm and Surface Water Capital Fund 1,279,418        33,200             227,000           260,200           873,960           -                      873,960           665,658           (613,760)          -48.0%

417 Airport Capital Fund 1,912,025        44,600             1,263,500        1,308,100        442,000           -                      442,000           2,778,125        866,100           45.3%

611 Firemen's Pension 1,084,222        33,500             -                      33,500             7,200               -                      7,200               1,110,522        26,300             2.4%

TOTALS 26,623,552$    30,603,760$    4,130,868$      34,734,628$    34,481,201$    4,130,868$      38,612,069$    22,746,111$    (3,877,441)$     -14.6%

CITY OF CHEHALIS 
2024 BUDGET SUMMARY- ALL FUNDS

Ordinance No. 1080-B, Exhibit A

130



CITY OF CHEHALIS 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA REPORT 

TO: The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY: Chun Saul, Finance Director 

DATE: November 13, 2023 

SUBJECT:  Ordinances 1081-B and 1082-B, First Reading - Adoption of 2024 Property Tax Levies 

ISSUE 

Per RCW 84.52.020, the City is required to submit a Levy Certification to the county legislative authority, 
the amounts to be raised by taxation on the assessed valuation of the property in the city, no later than 
November 30th of the year preceding the year in which the levy amounts are to be collected.  

In addition to the Levy Certification, the City is required to submit Ordinance/Resolution stating the dollar 
amount and percentage increase over the actual levy amount from the previous year to the County Board 
of Commissioners. Without the Ordinance/Resolution and Levy Certification, the County can only collect 
what it collected the year before. 

Ordinances 1081-B and 1082-B have been prepared in connection with levying property taxes for 
collection in 2024.   The Ordinances are required in order to have Lewis County collect property taxes on 
behalf of the City. 

DISCUSSION 

The 2024 Preliminary Budget, which includes a summary of anticipated revenues and expenditures, is 
available for public review at City Hall, the Finance Department, and on the City’s website:  
www.ci.chehalis.wa.us.  

ORDINANCE NO. 1081-B (SETTING THE 2024 LEVY AMOUNT) 

Ordinance No. 1081-B establishes the amount of the City’s levies of ad valorem taxes (i.e., property taxes) 
to be collected in 2024 for general operations and Emergency Medical Services (EMS).  

As allowed by statue, cities can increase its annual levy by full 1% of its prior year’s highest lawful levy 
amount, excluding new construction and state-assessed utilities. The city can also increase its regular levy 
above the 1% annual levy lid by using non-voted banked capacity. The City has a total of $247,537.08 in 
available banked capacity going into levy year 2024 which includes : $242,719.77 for regular levy (14.17% 
of the 2023 Actual Levy) and $4,817.31 for EMS Levy (2.00% of the 2023 Actual Levy) 

131

http://www.ci.chehalis.wa.us/


However, the proposed 2024 levy amounts do not include use of any banked capacity, but they include 
the 1% statutorily allowed levy increase and increase for new construction and administrative refunds. 
The proposed 2024 levy amounts are as follows:  
  

• Regular Levy $1,768,428.64 
• EMS Levy $487,030.15 
• Total Levy $2,255,458.79 

 
Additional details are provided in the table below: 
 

 
 
ORDINANCE NO. 1082-B (CHANGES FROM 2023 LEVY) 
 
Ordinance No. 1082-B identifies the changes, in both the dollar amounts and percentage of changes, in 
the City’s regular property tax levy and the EMS levy for next year (2024) compared to this year (2023). 
 

 
*This increase is exclusive of additional revenue resulting from new construction, property improvements, 
any increase in the value of state assessed property, any annexations that have occurred, or property tax 
administrative refunds.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the City Council pass Ordinance 1081-B and Ordinance 1082-B on first reading. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION 
 
I move that the City Council pass Ordinance 1081-B and Ordinance 1082-B on first reading. 

Description 2024 General Levy 2024 EMS Levy Total 2024 Levy
2023 Highest Lawful Levy (HLL) 1,955,489.15$          481,731.32$              2,437,220.47$        

2023 Tax Year Actual Levy Amount 1,712,769.38$          472,263.81$              2,185,033.19$        
1% Increase over 2023 HLL 19,554.89$                4,817.31$                   24,372.20$              

2024 Levy Limit Before Add-Ons 1,732,324.27$          477,081.12$              2,209,405.39$        
Plus Add-Ons:
Increase from new construction 31,841.41$                8,779.67$                   40,621.08$              
Administrative Refunds 4,262.96$                   1,169.36$                   5,432.32$                

Total Add-Ons 36,104.37$                9,949.03$                   46,053.40$              
2024 Preliminary Levy Amount Authorized 1,768,428.64$          487,030.15$              2,255,458.79$        

2024 Property Tax Levy Amount - City of Chehalis

Tax Levy

2023 Highest 
Lawful Levy 

(HLL)
2023 Actual 

Levy

1% Increase over 
2023 Highest 

Lawful Levy (HLL)

Use of 
Banked 
Capacity 

Total Amount 
Increase in 2024 
from 2023 Levy*

Percent 
Increase over 

2023

Regular Levy 1,955,489.15$  1,712,769.38$  19,554.89$                -$                      19,554.89$             1.141712%

EMS Levy 481,731.32$     472,263.81$      4,817.31$                   -$                      4,817.31$               1.020047%

Dollar Amounts and Percentage of Changes in Property Tax Levies for 2024 over 2023

132



ORDINANCE NO. 1081-B 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON, 
DETERMINING AND FIXING THE AMOUNT OF REVENUE TO BE 
RAISED BY AD VALOREM TAXES DURING THE CALENDAR YEAR 2024 
AND PROVIDING FOR THE EFFECTIVE DATE HEREOF. 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON, DO ORDAIN AS 

FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1.   The amount of revenue to be raised by ad valorem taxes during 2024 for general 

city operations shall be, and the same hereby is, determined and fixed in the sum of One Million 
Seven Hundred Sixty-Eight Thousand Four Hundred Twenty-Eight Dollars and Sixty-Four Cents. 
($1,768,428.64).  

 
Section 2.   The amount of revenue to be raised by ad valorem taxes during 2024 for 

emergency medical services (EMS) shall be, and the same hereby is, determined and fixed in the 
sum of Four Hundred Eighty-Seven Thousand Thirty Dollars and Fifteen Cents ($487,030.15).  

 
            Section 3.  The effective date of the ordinance shall be the _____ day of November 2023. 

 
           PASSED by the City Council of the City of Chehalis, Washington during a regularly 
scheduled open public meeting thereof this _____ day of November 2023. 

 
 
 
 ______________________________ 

    Mayor 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
______________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to form and content: 
 
 
______________________________ 
City Attorney 
 

 

133



134



ORDINANCE NO. 1082-B 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON, 
STATING THE AMOUNT AND PERCENTAGE OF CHANGE IN 
PROPERTY TAX LEVY IN CALEDAR YEAR 2024. 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Chehalis, Washington, properly gave notice of a public hearing held on 

the 13th day of November 2023, to consider the city budget for 2024, including possible property tax 
increases and other revenues, pursuant to RCW 84.55.120; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Chehalis has met and considered its budget for the 

calendar year 2024; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the City’s actual levy amounts in 2023 for general operations and Emergency 

Medical Services (EMS) levies were $1,712,769.38 and $472,263.81, respectively; and,  
 
WHEREAS, the population of the City is less than 10,000; and now, therefore, 
 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON, DO ORDAIN AS 

FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. An increase in the regular property tax levy and the emergency medical services (EMS) 

tax levy are hereby authorized for the levies to be collected in the 2024 tax year.  
 
 Section 2.   The dollar amount of the increase for regular property tax levy over the actual levy 

amount from 2023 tax year shall be $19,554.89 which is a percentage increase of 1.141712% from 2023 
tax year. This increase is exclusive of additional revenue resulting from new construction, improvements 
to property, newly constructed wind turbines, solar, biomass, and geothermal facilities, and any increase in 
the value of state assessed property, any annexations that have occurred and refunds made. 

 
Section 3.  The dollar amount of the increase for emergency medical services (EMS) tax levy over 

the actual levy amount from 2023 tax year shall be $4,817.31 which is a percentage increase of 1.020047% 
from 2023 tax year. This increase is exclusive of additional revenue resulting from new construction, 
improvements to property, newly constructed wind turbines, solar, biomass, and geothermal facilities, and 
any increase in the value of state assessed property, any annexations that have occurred and refunds made.  

 
           PASSED by the City Council of the City of Chehalis, Washington during a regularly scheduled 
open public meeting thereof this _____ day of November 2023. 

 
 
 
________________________________ 

   Mayor 
 
 
 
Attest: 
_________________________________ 
  City Clerk 
 

135



 
Approved as to form and content: 
 
 ________________________________ 
 City Attorney 

136



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO:  The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM:  Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY:  Todd Johnson, Planner 

MEETING OF: November 13, 2023 

SUBJECT: Ordinance No. 1079-B – Amending CMC 17.79.010 -- Action to Modify Zoning for 
Open Space Government (OSG) and Mixed Residential Commercial (MRC) Zoning 
code (First and Final Reading) 

INTRODUCTION 

The Mixed Residential Commercial zone (MRC) and Open Space Government (OSG) zones were 
designated on the City of Chehalis zoning maps to assist property owners in resolving challenges with 
existing non-conforming uses.  The City Council recently adopted map changes to rezone properties to 
address the mix of residential and commercial uses that exist and were non-conforming under the 
previous CG zone.  The recently adopted map changes also addressed the changes in use for Open Space 
Government (OSG) properties.  When the zoning was created, the code with implementation standards 
was not yet developed leaving properties within these zoning designation without corresponding 
standards to use when reviewing new development applications. 

DISCUSSION 

To implement the adopted map changes, planning staff began working on the code to implement the 
adopted mapping designations.  Because of staff transitions and the time needed to properly develop and 
adopt new zoning regulations, the implementing code has not been developed. There is an immediate 
need to implement standards for the MRC zone and OSG zone.  Property owners in both zones have 
proposed changes that require zoning and land use reviews.  In order for these projects to move forward 
the implementation code for the newly applied zones will need to be developed and implemented.  To 
provide for immediate standards in these new zoning designations, staff is proposing an emergency action 
to immediately apply existing code standards that are set forth separately for residential, commercial, and 
essential public facilities for these newly applied zones.  These previously approved codes would apply 
while new standards for OSG and MRC can be developed with input from property owners, businesses, 
and residents during the process to create new zoning standards.  

This action will allow property owners to proceed with permitting until the new code for these zones is 
developed through a public process and adopted by City Council in the future. The existing standards in 
the Commercial General (CG) and Residential 3 (R3) zone most closely align with the existing land uses. 
The Essential Public Facility (EPF) zoning most closely aligns with the uses in the OSG zoning designation. 
Applying those standards in the interim will allow processing of application according to the CG, R3, and 
EPF standards. This action will apply those standards to development and redevelopment applications 
until a future date when code can be developed through a public process for the OSG and MRC zones. 

137



The attached ordinance adopting the code amendments will implement this action.  The City will also 
initiate the development of new code and the public process for review and adoption of the updated 
standards for the OSG and MRC zoning districts.  The process is expected to take  6 to 9 months. 
 
Major changes to the code are proposed as follows: 
 

• Modifications to section 17.79.010 – Zones designated to add the OSG and MRC zones. 
• Adopt a new section 17.55 Mixed Residential commercial zone with references to the R3 and 

CG zoning standards.  
• Adopting a new section 17.56 Open Space Government zone with references to chapter 17.54 

EPF zoning standards  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
  

There is no fiscal impact from this code update.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Ordinance No. 1079 B is attached to this report. The Ordinance includes the text for the new MRC and 
OSG zoning standards as attachments. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

It is recommended that the City Council: 
 

1) Waive its own rule requiring that an ordinance be adopted with two readings; and 
2) Approve Ordinance No. 1079-B amending CMC 17.79.010 to add new sections 17.55 Mixed 

Residential Commercial (MRC) and 17.56 Open Space Government (OSG) on first and final reading. 
 
SUGGESTED MOTION 
 
I move that the City Council: 
  

1) Waive its own rule requiring that an ordinance be adopted with two readings; and 
2) Approve Ordinance No. 1079-B amending CMC 17.79.010 to add new sections 17.55 Mixed 

Residential Commercial (MRC) and 17.56 Open Space Government (OSG) on first and final reading. 
 

138



ORDINANCE NO. 1079-B 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, 
WASHINGTON, AMENDING CHAPTER 17.79.010 OF 

THE CHEHALIS MUNICIPAL CODE AND ADOPTING 
NEW SECTIONS 17.55 and 17.56 OF THE CHEHALIS 

MUNICIPAL CODE AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE HEREOF. 

 
 WHEREAS the City of Chehalis has previously adopted mapping changes applying the 
OSG and MRC zones; and 
 
 WHEREAS the City Council desires to provide for development standards in these newly 
applied zoning districts; and 
 
 WHEREAS the current code provisions do not address development standards in these 
zones; and 
 
 WHEREAS the City desires to update its zoning code to provide standards in these zones;    
 
NOW THEREFORE THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, 
WASHINGTON, DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1.  Section 17.79.010 of the Chehalis Municipal Code shall be, and the same hereby 
is, amended to add the following two lines to the existing list of zones as follows: 

14. MRC: mixed residential/commercial 
15. OSG: open space government 
Section 2.  A new section CMC 17.55 is adopted as a new section in the Chehalis Municipal 

Code as attached. 
Section 3.  A new section CMC 17.56 is adopted as a new section in the Chehalis Municipal 

Code as attached. 
Section 4.  The effective date of this ordinance shall be the 27th day of November 2023. 

 
PASSED by the City Council of the city of Chehalis, Washington, and APPROVED by 

its mayor this 13th day of November 2023. 
    
 
      ______________________________ 
      Mayor  

Attest: 
 
________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
Approved as to form and content:  
 
________________________________ 
City Attorney 

139



  
 

140



 Page 1/2 

 Chapter 17.55 

MRC MIXED RESIDENTIAL/COMMERCIAL 

Sections: 
17.55.010    Intent. 
17.55.020    Permitted uses. 
17.55.030    Prohibited uses. 
17.55.040    Environmental performance standards. 
17.55.050    Site area. 
17.55.060    Off-street parking. 
17.55.080    Design and development guidelines. 
17.55.090    Site plan review. 
17.55.100    Densities and infill; bulk regulations. 
17.55.110    Individual lots required. 

17.55.010 Intent. 
The intent of the MRC zone is to: 

A.    Provide a transition area between more intense commercial areas and residential land uses, and to provide an 
area for development of limited commercial office use along busier streets. 

B.    Permit the development of areas devoted to certain mixed uses of land which are found to be reasonably 
compatible, such as medium-density residential (five to eight units per acre), office, and limited types of commercial 
activities.  

C.    Provide architectural review through the site plan review process to ensure compatibility with adjoining 
residential areas; provide development standards to enhance the efficient operation of this district; and to achieve 
minimum adverse impact on the community as a whole, especially on adjacent properties having different land use 
characteristics. 

D.    Allow residential, retail, and office uses in the same structure.  

17.55.020 Permitted uses. 
A.    Permitted uses in the MRC zone shall be those uses provided in Chapter 17.78 CMC in the Multifamily 
Residential (R-3) and General Commercial (C-G) Zones as chosen by the applicant at the time of application. All 
new development applications must be reviewed through a Site Plan Review process (CMC 17.09.130). For a 
mixed-use building, standards of either zone may apply as approved through the site plan review process.   

B.    For redevelopment of or improvements to an existing use the R-3 standards apply to residential uses and the 
C-G standards will apply to commercial uses.  Uses shall be determined by the community development director 
and/or the site plan review committee if the primary use is not obvious from the character of the existing use. No site 
plan review is required for improvements to existing uses in the same character as the existing development. 

C.    Other or Related Uses Permitted. 

1.    Home occupations as provided in Chapter 17.90 CMC. 

2.    Signs. See Chapter 17.86 CMC. 

3.    Temporary seasonal produce stands. 

D.    Conditional uses as provided in Chapter 17.09 CMC in the R-3 and CG Zones. 

E.    Similar or related permitted uses, and criteria for determination of similarity or relatedness, are as follows: 

141



 Page 2/2 

1.    Uses similar to, or related to, those listed in subsection (A) of this section are permitted upon a finding of 
the community development director and/or the site plan review committee that a particular unlisted use does 
not conflict with the intent of this chapter or the policies of the Chehalis comprehensive plan; 

2.    The criteria for such finding of similarity shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

a.    The proposed use is appropriate in this area; 

b.    The development standards for permitted uses can be met by the proposed use; 

c.    The public need is served by the proposed use.  

17.55.030 Prohibited uses. 
Wireless communication facilities and other uses, other than those identified or described in 17.78 in the RC and GC 
zones, are prohibited.  

17.55.040 Environmental and additional performance standards. 
A.    It shall be the responsibility of the operator and/or the proprietor of any permitted use to provide such 
reasonable evidence and technical data as the enforcing officer may require demonstrating that the use or activity is 
or will be in compliance with the property maintenance standards of Chapter 17.10 CMC (Adoption of International 
Building Codes and Standard Specifications). 

B.    Failure of the enforcing officer to require such information shall not be construed as relieving the operator 
and/or the proprietor from compliance with the environmental performance standards of this title. 

17.55.050 Site area. 
The design and shape of sites shall be as allowed in the R-3 (Multifamily Medium Density) or the C-G (general 
Commercial) zoning district.  

17.55.060 Off-street parking. 
Off-street parking shall be provided in accordance with Chapter 17.84 CMC.  

17.55.080 Design and development guidelines. 
Developments shall comply with the requirements of CMC Title 12, Streets/Sidewalks/Public Places.  

17.55.090 Site plan review. 
Architectural and building materials review and screening and buffering between commercial and residential uses 
will be critical in this district to ensure that new or remodeled structures maintain an appearance which is highly 
compatible with adjoining residential areas.  Site plan review (CMC 17.09.130) is required for all new 
developments in the MRC zone.  

17.55.100 Densities and infill; bulk regulations. 
Densities and infill are allowed per the standards in the R-3 and C-G zones.  The bulk regulations apply as 
applicable in each zone. 

17.55.110 Individual lots required. 
Every detached single-family dwelling, duplex, triplex, or other residential building shall be located on its own lot; 
provided, however, that apartment buildings designed as a single development may be located on one lot. Creation 
of a lot or lots shall meet all requirements of the subdivision and short plat code.  

142



 Page 1/1 

 Chapter 17.56 

OSG Open Space Government 

Sections: 
17.55.010    Intent. 
17.55.020    Permitted uses. 
17.55.050    Development standards and regulations 
 
17.55.010 Intent. 
It is the intent of this chapter to provide interim development standards for parcels zoned OSG (Open Space 
Government) to allow for permit processing until such time as a new OSG zoning code can be developed and 
adopted. 

17.55.020 Permitted uses. 
A.    Permitted as provided in Chapter 17.54.010(A.) CMC in any of the subzones 

B.    Conditional uses as provided in Chapter 17.54.010(B.) CMC 

C.    Similar or related permitted uses are allowed per 17.54.010 (D.) CMC 

17.55.050 Development standards and regulations. 
Development standards for developments in the OSG zone shall be those listed in CMC 17.54.020 through 
17.54.120.  

143



144



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO:  The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM:  Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY:    Kassi Mackie, City Clerk  

MEETING OF: November 13, 2023 

SUBJECT:  First Reading of Ordinance No. 1083-B, Amending Chapter 2.08.050 of the Chehalis 
Municipal Code Regarding Candidate Qualifications 

ISSUE: 

At the October 23rd meeting during review of the proposed process for filling the District 1 City Council 
vacancy, the City Council requested proposed changes to the Chehalis Municipal Code regarding 
candidate qualifications.  

DISCUSSION: 

Proposed changes to the Chehalis Municipal Code section 2.08.050 would amend the requirement that 
eligible persons be a registered voter and resident of the city for a period of at least one year by 
removing “has been” before registered voter and adding “has been” before “a resident of the city”. This 
allows more candidates to participate in the process by only requiring that they have lived within the 
city limits and are, at the time of applying, a registered voter of Chehalis. RCW 35A.12.030 requires 
candidates in code cities to be registered to vote within the city and to have been a resident for at least 
one year at the time of filing for candidacy.  

2.08.050 Qualifications. 

No person shall be eligible to hold a council position unless he or she is a registered voter and has 

been a resident of the city for a period of at least one year next preceding his or her election. No 

person shall be eligible for a district council position unless he or she shall be a registered voter and 

resident of his or her respective district. Residence and voting within the limits of any territory 

which has been included, annexed to, or consolidated with such city or district is construed to have 

been residence within the city or district. A council person shall hold within the city government no 

other public office or employment except as permitted under the provisions of Chapter 42.23 RCW. 

[Ord. 735B, 2002.] 

During the discussion on October 23, Council had proposed waiving the rules requiring two readings for 
this ordinance, so that is recommended at this time. 

FISCAL IMPACT  

There is no fiscal impact associated with the proposed change. 

145

https://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/rcw.pl?cite=42.23


 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the City Council  

1) Waive the City Council’s own rule requiring two readings of an ordinance; and  
2) Adopt Ordinance No. 1083-B on first and final reading.  

 
SUGGESTED MOTION 
 
I move that the City Council:  

1)  Waive the City Council’s own rule requiring two readings of an Ordinance; and  
2)  Adopt Ordinance No. 1083-B on first and final reading. 

 
 
 
 
 

146



ORDINANCE NO. 1083-B 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, 
WASHINGTON, AMENDING CHAPTER 2.08.050 OF 
THE CHEHALIS MUNICIPAL CODE REGARDING 

CANDIDATE QUALIFICATIONS AND ESTABLISHING 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE HEREOF. 

WHEREAS the City of Chehalis has previously enacted Chehalis Municipal Code 
(“CMC”) 2.08.050, Qualifications; and 

WHEREAS the City Council desires to amend the candidate requirement, “he or she has 
been a registered voter and resident of the city for a period of at least one year”; and 

WHEREAS the current code provisions have proven to be difficult for the public to 
participate in their local government; and 

WHEREAS the City desires to update this ordinance accordingly;   

NOW THEREFORE THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, 
WASHINGTON, DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  Section 2.08.050 of the Chehalis Municipal Code shall be, and the same hereby 
is, amended to read as follows: 

2.08.050 Qualifications. 
No person shall be eligible to hold a council position unless he or she has been is a registered 
voter and has been a resident of the city for a period of at least one year next preceding his or her 
election. No person shall be eligible for a district council position unless he or she shall be a 
registered voter and resident of his or her respective district. Residence and voting within the 
limits of any territory which has been included, annexed to, or consolidated with such city or 
district is construed to have been residence within the city or district. A council person shall hold 
within the city government no other public office or employment except as permitted under the 
provisions of Chapter 42.23 RCW.  

Section 2.  The effective date of this ordinance shall be the ______ day of November 2023. 

PASSED by the City Council of the city of Chehalis, Washington, and APPROVED by 
its mayor this _____day of ____________ 2023. 

______________________________ 
Mayor  

147

https://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/rcw.pl?cite=42.23


  
  
Attest: 
 
 
________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to form and content:  
 
 
________________________________ 
City Attorney 
  
 

148


	5.    City Council Regular Meeting Minutes 10.23
	6.    City Council Special Meeting Minutes 10.26
	7.        DOC110923-11092023144624
	8.   Payroll Vouchers and Transfers
	9.    Agenda Report Hedwall RV Electrical Cole Electrical Release of Retainage
	10.      Agenda report Comp plan amendments final
	10a.      Comp Plan Attachment 1 Letter from Newaukum Ventures
	10b.       Comp Plan Attachment 2 Letter from Shovel Ready LLC
	11.      Surplus - Agenda Report Res 21-2023
	11a.    Surplus - Resolution Fire Equipment
	11b.   Surplus attachments-updated
	Surplus 1
	Surplus 1-1
	Surplus 2,3,4,5  2003 Boat
	Surplus 6 2019 Willdand Skid.
	Surplus 6-a processed-8B1639E6-23FB-4F93-B467-E4D2E3065CF1-90A0FFA9-DF9F-4B5F-95FF-88FA74A15F9D (002)
	Surplus 7.   Damaged Hose
	Surplus 8.   Dishwasher
	Surplus 9.
	Surplus 10.  Miscallaneous items
	Surplus 11.    PPE Dryer
	Surplus 12 Scott SCBA
	Surplus 13 Stryker Gurney
	Surplus 14 Tables and Chairs
	Surplus 15 Wascomat PPE Extractor

	12.      Agenda Report - Westside Park Playground Play Equipment Purchase Award final
	CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING
	AGENDA REPORT
	ISSUE
	DISCUSSION
	FISCAL IMPACT
	RECOMMENDATION
	SUGGESTED MOTION

	13.       11-13-23 Agenda Report - Public Hearing - 2024 Revenue Source Property Tax Levies
	14.       11-13-23 Agenda Report - Public Hearing - 2023 Preliminary Budget - First Reading
	15.      Updated Fire Dept Cost Recovery - Ag Rpt 2nd reading
	15a.      Ordinance 1071-B - Mitigation Rates for Fire Department CMC 2.30.055 - KTN 10-10-2023
	15b    Fire Cost Recovery Contract Docs with EF Recovery
	16.       Agenda Report Arkansas Way West ROW Dedication CW DRAFT
	16a.     ORDINANCE NO - Arkansas Way West DRAFT CW
	16b.      Arkansas Way west ROW dedication legal descriptions
	17.     Agenda Report OEPB Funds
	17a.    Ordinance - LEOFF 1 OPEB Fund
	ORDINANCE NO.  1078-B
	AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON, establishing a new fund, the law enforcement officers’ & firefighters’ plan 1 (leoff 1) other post-employment benefits (opeb) trust fund
	City Clerk
	City Attorney

	18.      11-13-23 Agenda Report - ORD 1080-B - Adopting the 2024 Budget - First Reading
	18a.   11-13-23 Ordinance 1080-B - Adopting 2024 Preliminary Budget - First Reading
	18b.      11-13-23 Ordinance No. 1080-B, Exhibit A
	19a.     11-13-23 Agenda Report - ORD 1081-B & 1082-B - Adopting 2024  Property Tax Levy
	19b.    11-13-23 Ordinance 1081-B - 2024 Revenue Setting Property Tax Amount
	19c.    11-13-23 Ordinance 1082-B - 2024 Property Tax Levy Change
	20.     11-13-23 FINAL Agenda report Ordinance no 1079-B OSG and MRC zoning
	20a.      Ordinance 1079-B Amending CMC 17.79.010 and adopting a new section CMC 17.55 final
	Section 1.  Section 17.79.010 of the Chehalis Municipal Code shall be, and the same hereby is, amended to add the following two lines to the existing list of zones as follows:
	14. MRC: mixed residential/commercial
	15. OSG: open space government
	Section 2.  A new section CMC 17.55 is adopted as a new section in the Chehalis Municipal Code as attached.
	Section 3.  A new section CMC 17.56 is adopted as a new section in the Chehalis Municipal Code as attached.
	Section 4.  The effective date of this ordinance shall be the 27th day of November 2023.

	20b.      17.55 MRC final
	20c.       17.56 OSG final
	21.    Agenda Report Candidate Qualifications Ordinance No.1083
	2.08.050 Qualifications.

	21a.       Ordinance 1083- BAmending 2.08.050-Candidate Qualifications Ordinance_
	Section 1.  Section 2.08.050 of the Chehalis Municipal Code shall be, and the same hereby is, amended to read as follows:
	2.08.050 Qualifications.
	Section 2.  The effective date of this ordinance shall be the ______ day of November 2023.

	ADPC661.tmp
	PRESENTATIONS/PROCLAMATIONS
	ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION
	                                           CONSENT CALENDAR
	PAGE
	                                           PUBLIC HEARINGS
	ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION
	PAGE
	CITIZENS BUSINESS (PUBLIC COMMENT)
	ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION
	                                                UNFINISHED BUSINESS
	PAGE
	ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION
	                                                NEW BUSINESS
	PAGE
	ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION
	                                    ADMINISTRATION AND CITY COUNCIL REPORTS  
	PAGE

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



